
MEETING: PLANNING COMMITTEE

DATE: 16th March 2022

TIME: 6.30 pm

VENUE: Bootle Town Hall

Member

Councillor

Substitute

Councillor
Cllr. Daren Veidman (Chair)
Cllr. Brenda O'Brien (Vice-Chair)
Cllr. Jennifer Corcoran
Cllr. Denise Dutton
Cllr. James Hansen
Cllr. John Kelly
Cllr. Sonya Kelly
Cllr. Steve McGinnity
Cllr. Joe Riley
Cllr. Michael Roche
Cllr. Paula Spencer
Cllr. Anne Thompson
Cllr. Lynne Thompson
Cllr. Paul Tweed
Cllr. Carran Waterfield

Cllr. Natasha Carlin
Cllr. John Sayers LLB. Cert PA.
Cllr. Sean Halsall
Cllr. Terry Jones
Cllr. Susan Bradshaw
Cllr. Patrick McKinley
Cllr. Leslie Byrom C.B.E.
Cllr. Janet Grace
Cllr. Sinclair D'Albuquerque
Cllr. Gordon Friel
Cllr. Dave Robinson
Cllr. Paula Murphy
Cllr. John Dodd
Cllr. Janis Blackburne
Cllr. Linda Cluskey

COMMITTEE OFFICER: Ruth Appleby / Ian Barton
Telephone: 0151 934 2181 /  2788
email: ruth.appleby@sefton.gov.uk / 

ian.barton@sefton.gov.uk

See overleaf for COVID Guidance and the 
requirements in relation to Public Attendance.

If you have any special needs that may require arrangements to 
facilitate your attendance at this meeting, please contact the 
Committee Officer named above, who will endeavour to assist.

We endeavour to provide a reasonable number of full agendas, including reports at 
the meeting.  If you wish to ensure that you have a copy to refer to at the meeting, 
please can you print off your own copy of the agenda pack prior to the meeting.

Public Document Pack



COVID GUIDANCE IN RELATION TO PUBLIC ATTENDANCE

In light of ongoing Covid-19 social distancing restrictions, there is limited 

capacity for members of the press and public to be present in the meeting 

room indicated on the front page of the agenda at any one time.  We 

would ask parties remain in the meeting room solely for the duration of 

consideration of the Committee report(s)  to which their interests relate.

We therefore request that if you wish to attend the Committee to please 

register in advance of the meeting via email to ian.barton@sefton.gov.uk  

by no later than 12:00 (noon) on the day of the meeting.
 

Please include in your email –

 Your name;

 Your email address;

 Your Contact telephone number; and

 The details of the report in which you are interested.

In light of current social distancing requirements, access to the meeting 

room is limited.

We have been advised by Public Health that Members, officers and 
the public should carry out a lateral flow test before attending the 
meeting, and only attend if that test is negative. Provided you are not 
classed as exempt, it is requested that you wear a mask that covers 
both your nose and mouth.

mailto:ian.barton@sefton.gov.uk


A G E N D A

1.  Apologies for Absence

2.  Declarations of Interest
Members are requested at a meeting where a disclosable 
pecuniary interest or personal interest arises, which is not 
already included in their Register of Members' Interests, to 
declare any interests that relate to an item on the agenda.

Where a Member discloses a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest, 
he/she must withdraw from the meeting during the whole 
consideration of any item of business in which he/she has an 
interest, except where he/she is permitted to remain as a 
result of a grant of a dispensation.

Where a Member discloses a personal interest he/she must 
seek advice from the Monitoring Officer or staff member 
representing the Monitoring Officer by 12 Noon the day 
before the meeting to determine whether the Member should 
withdraw from the meeting room, during the whole 
consideration of any item of business in which he/she has an 
interest or whether the Member can remain in the meeting or 
remain in the meeting and vote on the relevant decision.

3.  Minutes of the meeting held on 16 February 2022 (Pages 5 - 8)

4.  Applications for Planning Permission - Petitions

A DC/2021/00123 - 90 Roe Lane, Southport  (Pages 9 - 22)

Report of the Chief Planning Officer

5.  Applications for Planning Permission - Approvals

A DC/2021/00887 - Land North Of Kenyons Lane, 
Lydiate   

(Pages 23 - 62)

Report of the Chief Planning Officer

B DC/2021/01452 - 25 Weld Road, Birkdale  (Pages 63 - 98)

Report of the Chief Planning Officer

C DC/2021/02372 - 175 Linacre Road, Litherland  (Pages 99 - 104)

Report of the Chief Planning Officer



6.  Planning Appeals Report (Pages 105 - 110)

Report of Chief Planning Officer

7.  Visiting Panel Schedule (Pages 111 - 112)

Report of Chief Planning Officer



THIS SET OF MINUTES IS NOT SUBJECT TO “CALL-IN”

1

PLANNING COMMITTEE

MEETING HELD AT THE BOOTLE TOWN HALL
ON 16 FEBRUARY 2022

PRESENT: Councillor Veidman (in the Chair)
Councillor O'Brien (Vice-Chair)

Councillors Corcoran, Dutton, Hansen, John Kelly, 
Sonya Kelly, Riley, Spencer, Lynne Thompson, 
Tweed, Waterfield and Grace.

74. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors McGinnity, Roche 
and Anne Thompson.

75. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No declarations of any disclosable pecuniary interests or personal 
interests were received.

76. MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 19 JANUARY 2022 

RESOLVED:

That the Minutes of the meeting held on 19 January 2022 be confirmed as 
a correct record subject to minute No. 68 (1) (c) being amended to read:-

(c) an additional condition relating to the revision of the layout of the end 
elevations (Northerly and North Westerly) of blocks C and D facing 
Granville Rd, to ensure windows are obscurely glazed with no clear 
glazed openings or views over Granville Road, and amendment to 
conditions to verify the final positioning of blocks C and D, with the 
final wording delegated to the Chief Planning Officer.

77. DC/2021/02819 - 50 ELM ROAD, SEAFORTH 

The Committee considered the report of the Chief Planning Officer 
recommending that the above application for the change of Use from 
dwellinghouse (Class C3) into a House in Multiple Occupation(HMO) (Sui 
Generis) (7 persons) (Alternative to DC/2021/02343 refused 26 November 
2021) be granted subject to the conditions and for the reasons stated or 
referred to in the report.

Arising from the discussion members considered that in order to protect 
the living conditions of neighbouring and adjacent occupiers a 
management plan for the premises needed to be in place prior to its 
occupation. It was also considered that in order to asses the impact of the 
development on the surrounding area it would be prudent to grant the 
application for a fixed period.

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



PLANNING COMMITTEE- WEDNESDAY 16TH FEBRUARY, 2022

2

Members also discussed condition No. 5 contained in the report, relating 
to soundproofing of the premises, and felt that this needed to be improved 
to cover all rooms in the property.

RESOLVED:

That the recommendation be approved and the application be granted for 
a temporary period of 2 years subject to the conditions and for the reasons 
stated or referred to in the report, in Late Representations and subject to:-

(1)  an amended condition No. 5 relating to improved soundproofing 
between all rooms within the property (even when not adjoining 
communal areas), and 

(2)  the following additional condition:-

The development shall not be occupied until a management plan 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. The management plan shall detail how the 
property will be managed in order to minimise impacts such as 
noise, disturbance, anti-social behaviour and refuse storage on 
the wider area. The measures detailed in the approved 
management plan shall be adhered to in full throughout the 
lifetime of the development. 

Reason: To safeguard the living conditions of 
neighbouring/adjacent occupiers and land users.

78. DC/2020/00590 - UNIT 1, SITE OF MAYFLOWER INDUSTRIAL 
ESTATE LIVERPOOL ROAD, FORMBY - UPDATE 

Further to Minute Nos. 116 (17 March 2021) and 128 (14 April 2021) the 
Committee considered the report of the  Chief Planning Officer that 
reminded members of previous consideration of the above application 
which sought the removal of an affordable housing condition attached to a 
2019 planning permission for the erection of an apartment block containing 
32 apartments (for over 55’s). 

At Minute No. 128 (14 April 2021) the Committee had resolved to approve 
the application subject to the applicant entering into a section 106 legal 
agreement to secure a financial contribution towards off site affordable 
housing.

Following the April 2021 meeting, complaints had been received alleging 
that the applicant was not associated with the development and that the 
details contained within the application form, mainly the contact details and 
certificate of ownership, were incorrect. Following a formal investigation, it 
was clear that an error had been made regarding the applicant’s details 
identified on the application form. However, it was considered that this 
error did not lead to any gain for the applicant or cause anyone to suffer 

Page 6

Agenda Item 3



PLANNING COMMITTEE- WEDNESDAY 16TH FEBRUARY, 2022

3

any loss. The application form (including the certificate of ownership) had 
subsequently been corrected and submitted to the Council. Local residents 
had been given the opportunity to review the updated information and 
whilst correspondence had been received from two residents, they did not 
raise matters that were not already addressed in the previous committee 
reports.

RESOLVED:

That the update be noted and the Chief Planning Officer be authorised to 
proceed with the completion of the Section 106 and issue a decision 
notice.

79. PLANNING APPEALS REPORT 

The Committee considered the report of the Chief Planning Officer on the 
results of the undermentioned appeals and progress on appeals lodged 
with the Planning Inspectorate.

Appellant Proposal/Breach of Planning Control Decision

Mr and Mrs Gerrard DC/2021/00943 - 51 Sandhurst Drive 
Aintree Liverpool L10 6LU - appeal 
against the Council’s refusal to grant 
Certificate of Lawfulness for the 
proposed detached outbuilding in the 
rear garden.

Dismissed
21/01/2022

Miss S. Deary EN/2021/00083 
(APP/M4320/C/21/3283819) - 1 Heather 
Close Formby Liverpool L37 7HN – 
Appeal against enforcement notice 
regarding without planning permission 
and within the last four years, the 
erection of a brick wall with pillars in 
excess of 1 metre in height to the front 
boundary of the land.

Dismissed
6/01/2022

Hutchison UK Ltd DC/2021/01290 
(APP/M4320/W/21/3279863) - Kirkstone 
Road North Litherland Liverpool L21 
7NT appeal against the Council’s 
refusal to grant Prior notification 
application for 18.0m Phase 8 
Monopole C/W wrapround Cabinet at 
base and associated ancillary works.

Dismissed
13/12/2021

RESOLVED:

That the report be noted.

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



PLANNING COMMITTEE- WEDNESDAY 16TH FEBRUARY, 2022

4

80. VISITING PANEL SCHEDULE 

The Committee considered the report of the Chief Planning Officer which 
advised that the undermentioned site had been inspected by the Visiting 
Panel on 14 February 2022.

Application No. Site

DC/2021/02819 50 Elm Road, Seaforth

RESOLVED:

That the report on the site inspected by the Visiting Panel be noted.

Page 8

Agenda Item 3



Report to: PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

Date of Meeting: 16th March 2022 

Subject:  DC/2021/00123 
 90 Roe Lane Southport PR9 7HT         
Proposal: Erection of single storey extension to existing cottage with 2 detached 

dwellinghouses on land to be severed from 90 Roe Lane 
 
Applicant: Mr. M Lowe Agent: N/A  

Ward:  Norwood Ward Type: Full Application  
 
Reason for Committee Determination:  Petition endorsed by Cllr Myers 
 
 

 

Summary             
The application seeks consent for the erection of two detached dwellings to the rear of an existing 
detached two-storey cottage on Roe Lane within a primarily residential area of Southport, as well 
as an extension to the existing cottage.   
 
The main issues to consider in respect of this are the principle of development, the impact on the 
character of the area, the impact on the existing cottage (considered as a Non-Designated Heritage 
Asset) and the impact on neighbouring living conditions.   
 
Following the receipt of amended plans and applying the planning balance it is considered that the 
harm arising from this proposal with regards to the impact of the proposed development on the 
setting of a building that is classed as a non-designated heritage asset is outweighed by the 
economic and social benefits, and it is recommended that planning permission be granted subject 
to conditions. 
 

Recommendation: Approve with Conditions  
 
   

Case Officer Neil Mackie 
 

 

Email planning.department@sefton.gov.uk  
Telephone 0345 140 0845  
 
 

Application documents and plans are available at: 

http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=QN6K3BNWH0B00 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4a



Site Location Plan 
 

 

Page 10

Agenda Item 4a



The Site            
The site comprises a long standing two-storey detached cottage lying adjacent to the Roe Lane 
highway and positioned in front of modern dwellings to either side.  The site lies within a 
designated primarily residential area of Southport.  A listing request to Historic England for the 
existing building was denied earlier this year. 
  

History        
A planning application for the erection of 2 detached dwellinghouses following demolition of the 
existing dwellinghouse (app ref: DC/2020/00472) was previously withdrawn. 
     

Consultations 
Conservation  
Consider that the amended plans, with the extension to the side, are more detrimental and 
harmful to the Non-Designated Heritage Asset than the extension to the rear originally proposed.  
The flat roof to the extension is out of character with the main building.  Also disappointed that 
the front elevation windows of the side extension are not more traditional in style such as timber 
sliding sash windows. 
 
Environmental Health Manager 
No objection subject to a condition securing a construction environmental management plan and 
conditions relating to potential road noise impacts on the new dwellings.  
 
Flooding & Drainage 
No objection.  
 
Merseyside Environmental Advisory Service  
No objection subject to the submission of bat surveys prior to determination.  
 
Tree Officer  
No objection subject to the submission of an arboricultural impact assessment.  
 
Highways Manager 
No objection to the proposal subject to conditions.  
   

Neighbour Representations         
Representation received from Councillor Myers objecting to the proposal due to the detrimental 
impact on the living conditions of Number 94 Roe Lane. 
 
A petition with 49 signatories objecting to the proposal has been endorsed by Councillor Myers.  
The petition objects to the proposal regarding concerns over the future of the existing building, 
overdevelopment of the site and detrimental impacts on neighbouring living conditions. 
 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4a



Objections received from or on behalf of Numbers 54, 69, 71 73, 74, 77, 86, 88, 90*, 94, 96, 102A 
Roe Lane, 4a Wennington Road, 18 Bengarth Road, 103 Balmoral Drive (all Southport), Blackpool 
Old Road, Preston.  
 
(*Address given as 90 Roe Lane on the submission through the public access system, but unlikely to 
be from occupiers/interested parties of the application site)  
 
Points of objection relate to: 
 
Living Conditions 
- Concerns about overlooking from areas of large glazing 
- Concerns about overlooking neighbouring gardens 
- Concerns about overshadowing neighbouring gardens 
- Proposal will introduce a dominant and overbearing development 
 
Highway Safety & Amenity 
- Concerns about the access width to the two houses 
- Concerns about visibility leaving the site 
 
Existing Building 
- Concerns about the longevity of the existing building 
- Existing building is a landmark building within Southport 
- The existing building should be afforded protection 
- Cottage has been nominated and accepted as a candidate on the new ‘Local Heritage List for 
Sefton’ 
- As the building was formerly a smallholding the cramped garden to be retained is at odds with its 
character 
- Object to the flat roof extension 
 
Character of the Area 
- Overdevelopment of the site 
- Proposed houses do not respond positively to the area 
- Lack of space around the properties 
 
Other Matters 
- Concerns over drainage from additional dwellings and removal of green space 
- Concerns over impacts of piling/ground compaction during construction 
- Inadequacy of submitted documents 
- Unhappiness with a number of comments made by the applicant in the design & access 
statement e.g. implication that if this application was refused a block of flats would be built 
following the demolition of the frontage building. 
 

Page 12

Agenda Item 4a



A letter of support, in principle, has been received from Number 67 Roe Lane.  Support the 
principle of the two houses but would prefer the houses to be of a more traditional design and 
would strongly prefer them to be aligned with existing frontages.  Concerns regarding the 
retention of the cottage as this compromises any development of the site.  The existing cottage is 
not a particularly attractive outlook from neighbouring properties and development may be better 
if this was removed. 
 
A letter of support has been received from Number 82 Roe Lane stating that the site is currently an 
eyesore to the area and has been for many years and is in desperate need of redevelopment.  
However, they do consider that a proposal including the demolition of the existing cottage and 
replacement with houses in line with neighbours would be far more acceptable. 
 
A neutral letter has also been received Number 71 Roe Lane stating a preference for the land to be 
cleared and two new houses of similar style to the existing housing to be built within the existing 
building line. 
 
Some objectors, while opposing the application on a number of different issues, indicate a 
preference for a development coming forward that would demolish the existing building and 
instead provide dwellings within the Roe Lane building line to better blend in within the area. 
 
Southport Civic Society 
A representation has also been received from Southport Civic Society that does not object nor 
support the application.  The representation disagrees with the submitted heritage statement that 
the existing building is of little architectural value and limited historical value, considering that the 
building adds distinct character, it is a prominent reminder of the past and it should be protected.  
While not objecting the civic society consider that the backland development is a departure from 
the original plot pattern and that the impacts should be reviewed carefully. 
    

Policy Context 
The application site lies within an area designated as Primarily Residential in the Sefton Local Plan 
which was adopted by the Council in April 2017.   
                                               
                                                
                                               

Page 13

Agenda Item 4a



Assessment of the Proposal 
      
This application seeks consent for the building of two detached two-storey dwellinghouses to the 
rear of the site and an extension to the existing two-storey building to the front.   
 
The main issues to consider in respect of this application are the principle of development, the 
impact on the character of the area, the impact on a non-designated heritage asset and the impact 
on neighbouring living conditions. 
 
Principle of Development 
 
As this site lies within a designated Primarily Residential Area, Local Plan policy HC3 'Residential 
Development and Primarily Residential Areas' is of direct relevance. This allows for new residential 
development where it is consistent with other Local Plan policies. 
 
Subject to the assessment of the other matters that follow, the principle of development can be 
accepted. 
 
Character of the Area 
 
Policy EQ2 'Design' of the Local Plan states that development will only be permitted where, 
amongst other matters, in relation to site context, the proposal should respond positively to the 
character, local distinctiveness and form of its surroundings. The policy also requires in terms of 
site design, that the arrangement of buildings, structures and spaces within the site, including 
density and layout, and the alignment and orientation of buildings relates positively to the 
character and form of the surroundings, achieves a high quality of design and amongst other 
things, integrates well with existing street patterns. The Council’s supporting guidelines for new 
housing includes guidance specific to proposals for backland development and, amongst other 
things, seeks that the form and layout respect the character of the area.  
 
Development behind frontage properties is evident within the area ranging from a block of flats to 
cul-de-sac developments.  The proposed houses to the rear will be read against this existing 
character and will not present a jarring feature. 
 
The backland houses depart from the form and appearance of the frontage dwelling and its 
neighbours to either side but this will better delineate old and new.  Further, this change in form 
reflects the different characteristics of this site than the more structured and standard layouts of 
neighbours to either side.  While the form will be different, the materials to be used in their 
external construction can be seen to properties within the area and do not represent a departure 
in this regard. 
 

Page 14

Agenda Item 4a



The separation distance from the road will lessen the contribution of the two properties to the 
streetscene as they will be largely screened from approaches along the east or west of Roe Lane, 
with neighbouring properties providing a built backdrop to the single-storey garage to the front of 
Plot 1.  
 
The proposed extension to the frontage dwelling will not have a material impact on the character 
of the area as domestic extensions are commonplace within the area. 
 
It is therefore considered that the proposal is appropriate in its effects upon and contribution 
towards the character of this residential area. 
 
Non-Designated Heritage Asset 
 
A request to list the building was made to Historic England but this was denied for a number of 
reasons but largely  because "houses of this date are common nationally, and this example is 
standard rather than special in the national context". It was also noted that little in the way of 
original fixtures and fittings was retained and while close to listed buildings (79-83 Roe Lane) "the 
degree of group value conveyed by this is insufficient to compensate for its lack of intrinsic interest 
in the national context." 
 
It is important that Historic England noted that the refusing of listing 'should not be taken to 
undermine its interest in a more local context'.  As evident from the representations from the 
Council's conservation officer and those from third parties that the existing building is recognised 
as a non-designated heritage asset (NDHA), with its appearance and setting contributing to a sense 
of place for the area.  This has been made clear with an objector stating that the property has been 
nominated and accepted as a candidate on the new ‘Local Heritage List for Sefton’. 
 
In respect of NDHA, Local Plan policy NH15 'Non-Designated Heritage Assets' is directly applicable.  
This policy states that development affecting a locally listed asset or its setting, or a non-
designated heritage asset or its setting, will be permitted where the aspects of the asset which 
contribute to its significance are conserved or enhanced. 
 
The Council's conservation officer considers that the proposed dwellings and subsequent 
subdivision of the plot would cause harm to the setting of this NDHA with the integrity of its 
original curtilage being compromised and that such harm would have to be weighed against the 
public benefits of the proposal as a whole. 
 
They state that the public benefits could include "that of heritage benefits, removing risks to the 
heritage asset by its retention, return to sustainable use, repair and reinstatement of historic 
features. The quantum of development provided should secure the optimum viable use of the 
building in support of its long-term conservation in line with local and national policy and prevent 
the building from future complete loss." 
 

Page 15

Agenda Item 4a



Following the receipt of amended plans the conservation officer considers that the side extension 
to the dwelling (rather than the rear as originally shown) would be detrimental and detract from 
the character of this building.   
 
However, as is noted within the applicant's design & access statement, and is still applicable here, 
the extensions are largely shown for information purposes as they could be undertaken as 
permitted development (i.e. development that does not require formal planning approval) in any 
case. 
 
Finally, it must be highlighted that, as mentioned in the design & access statement, the demolition 
of this existing building could be pursued under a prior notification of proposed demolition where 
the heritage value would not be part of the consideration.  Given that a listing request was 
recently denied it would be unlikely that any further requests for the same would be successful.   
 
As this potential avenue has been made explicit by the applicant then this represents a legitimate 
‘fallback’ in the event that there are concerns raised as to the impacts on this NDHA given that the 
building could be lost in its entirety with no consideration under the prior approval process given 
to the heritage value of the building. 
 
In respect of balancing harm, this will be undertaken below. 
 
Living Conditions 
 
Neighbouring Properties 
 
Concern was raised by neighbours and by the Council about the likely impacts of the two backland 
properties on the outlook from and overshadowing to ground-floor habitable room windows to 
neighbouring properties plus concern as to the potential impacts of overshadowing the same as 
well as overshadowing rear gardens. 
 
To address this the applicant amended the proposal to move two-storey elements of the dwellings 
further away from the shared side boundaries, while also highlighting the presence of 
neighbouring single-storey buildings running along the boundaries that largely screen windows.  In 
respect of overshadowing the setting in of the two-storey elements will also lessen early and late 
afternoon overshadowing, which is also caused to a limited degree by the aforementioned 
neighbouring buildings. 
 
It is agreed that the changes within the amended plans address the concerns in respect of 
overshadowing and outlook from neighbouring properties and the amended proposal would not 
cause unacceptable impacts on the living conditions of neighbouring properties. 
 

Page 16

Agenda Item 4a



There is a block of flats to the rear of the site, Claridge Court, where the windows to the side 
elevations facing the site consist of obscured glazing (as seen on site and as verified in drawings for 
this development).  This will ensure there would not be any issues arising from overlooking or a 
loss of privacy and with the proposal to the north of this building there will be no issues from 
overshadowing. 
 
It is therefore considered that the proposal is acceptable in regard to its impacts on neighbouring 
properties. 
 
Current & Future Occupiers 
 
An objector has highlighted the reduced distances between existing and proposed windows within 
the development, when compared against the minimum recommended between habitable room 
windows within the Council’s guidance on new housing development, but such an arrangement 
would be evident to any future occupier.  The distances will still ensure good outlook from 
habitable room windows to the proposed dwellings, and from the existing dwelling to the 
proposed houses, while the garden sizes proposed to the proposed dwellings and that to the 
retained dwelling are of an appropriate size to comply with the Council's guidance. 
 
Other Matters 
 
Highways 
The Council's highway engineers have not raised any objections to this proposal subject to a 
number of conditions being attached to any approval relating to the provision of parking and 
manoeuvring areas for the new dwellings, provision of electric vehicle charging points for the new 
dwellings and acceptable visibility splays being provided for the access on to Roe Lane. 
 
Flooding & Drainage 
No objection was received from the Council's flooding & drainage engineers. 
 
Ecology 
The Council's ecologists at the Merseyside Environmental Advisory Service recommended that bat 
surveys were undertaken of the existing dwelling as well as trees and outbuildings within the site, 
however this has not been done. 
 
During the determination of the application the single-storey outbuildings to the rear of the site 
were demolished, which did not require any formal planning approval, and as such at the time of 
this report there aren’t buildings that require surveying.   
 
In respect of surveying of trees, there aren't any trees of note within the site that would be 
affected by this development (as observed on a site visit).   
 

Page 17

Agenda Item 4a



Surveys for the existing dwelling are also not considered necessary given the minor nature of the 
single-storey extension to the building and that such works could be undertaken as permitted 
development.  The applicant would still have a responsibility under the wildlife and Countryside 
Act an informative could be attached to draw the applicants attention to this. 
 
Trees 
The Council's tree officer sought an arboricultural impact assessment but the site does not contain 
any mature trees that would warrant this.  Previous streetview images shows there to have been 
trees on this site but these have been removed.  As the site is not governed by a tree preservation 
order and not within a designated Conservation Area permission was not required for their 
removal. 
 
The Tree Officer was advised this and confirmed that no further assessments were required. 
 
Planning Balance 
 
At the heart of both the Local Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development. There are three dimensions to sustainable 
development: economic, social and environmental. These roles are interdependent and must be 
jointly sought to achieve sustainable development. 
 
As seen above, the proposal is appropriate within the area, whilst it has been demonstrated that 
the proposal would be capable of providing acceptable living conditions for future occupiers, 
would not cause harm to the living conditions of neighbouring properties or cause harm to 
highway safety. No weight can be given to these elements as they are policy requirements and 
must be met as a minimum for any development. 
 
The proposal will provide for a net increase of 2 residential properties, which will contribute to 
Sefton's housing supply.  The Council can currently demonstrate a five year housing supply 
(currently at 5.1 years, noting it is a reduction from a previous 6.0 year position) but this modest 
windfall site will be of benefit to this supply.  This will meet the social objective set out in 
paragraph 8 of the NPPF.  This matter is afforded modest weight. 
 
Paragraph 81 of the NPPF states that significant weight should be placed on the need to support 
economic growth. This proposal through the construction of the dwellings and expenditure 
associated with additional households in the area may provide modest economic benefits to which 
moderate weight is attached as it will accord with the economic objective set out in para 8 of the 
NPPF. 
 
Weighing against the proposal is the harm arising from the changes to the curtilage and the setting 
of the non-designated heritage asset. 
 

Page 18

Agenda Item 4a



The weight to be given to this is difficult to determine.  According to paragraph 203 of the NPPF "a 
balanced judgement will be required having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the 
significance of the heritage asset" and this approach is also reflected in the explanatory text to 
Local Plan policy NH15. 
 
The existing building is not an asset of community value or a designated heritage asset and as such 
it is not considered that the changes to curtilage and impacts on its setting can be afforded more 
than very limited weight particularly as the prominence of the building to the streetscene will be 
largely unchanged, and the appreciation of its curtilage is limited to direct views in front of the 
building, views that were formerly screened by trees.   
 
If it is deemed that the change in curtilage and subsequent setting of the building does not comply 
with the environmental objective within para 8 of the NPPF the harm arising could be afforded 
limited weight. 
 
It is evident that the proposal has positive benefits in relation to two of the three overarching 
objectives for sustainable development as set out in para 8 of the NPPF, social and economic, but 
on a cautious approach it could be held to fail the environmental objective. 
 
However, it is considered on balance that the benefits of the scheme outweigh the limited harm 
arising from the reduction in curtilage and impacts on the setting of the NDHA (noting the 
extension could be undertaken as permitted development).   
 
The proposal is therefore considered to be sustainable development and is compliant with the 
aims and objectives of the Local Plan and all other material considerations including the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 
 
Conclusion 
For the reasoning set out above it is considered that on balance the application is acceptable and 
should be granted consent with the conditions that follow. 
       

Recommendation - Approve with Conditions  
 
Time Limit for Commencement 
1) The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration of five years 

from the date of this permission. 
 
 Reason:  In order that the development is commenced in a timely manner, as set out in 

Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 
 
Approved Plans 
 2) The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved plans: 
 

Page 19

Agenda Item 4a



A/639/LP-02 'Location and Block Plans' 
A/639/P03A 'Proposed Site Plan' 
A/639/P04A 'Proposed Cottage Plans and Elevations' 
A/639/P05-01A 'Proposed House Plot 1 Floor Plans' 
A/639/P05-02A 'Proposed House Plot 1 Elevations' 
A/639/P06A 'Proposed House Plot 1 Floor Plans and Elevations' 
 
Reason:  For the avoidance of doubt. 

 
Before the Development is Commenced 
3) No development shall commence, including any works of demolition, until a Construction 

Environmental Management Plan has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the 
local planning authority.  The approved statement shall be adhered to throughout the 
construction period. 

 
 Reason: To safeguard the living conditions of neighbouring occupiers and land users during 

the construction of the development. 
 
Before the Development is Occupied 
4) A suitable scheme of acoustic glazing for any habitable room with line of sight to the A5267 

must be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. The approved scheme must be 
installed before the dwelling becomes occupied and retained thereafter. 

 
 Reason:  In the interests of living conditions. 
 
5) A suitable scheme of acoustically treated ventilation for any habitable room with line of sight 

to the A5267 must be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. The approved 
scheme must be installed before the dwelling becomes occupied and retained thereafter. 

 
 Reason:  In the interests of living conditions. 
 
6) No dwelling shall be occupied until space has been laid out within the curtilage of that 

dwelling for cars to be parked and that space shall thereafter be kept available for the 
parking of vehicles in perpetuity. 

 
 Reason: To ensure that enough car parking is provided for the development and to ensure 

the safety of highway users. 
 
7) Neither new dwelling shall be occupied until visibility splays of 2.0 metres x 2.0 metres 

measured down each side of the access and the back edge of the footway have been 
provided clear of obstruction to visibility at or above a height of 1.0 metres above the 
footway level of Roe Lane. 

   

Page 20

Agenda Item 4a



 Once created, these visibility splays shall be maintained clear of any obstruction and retained 
for their intended purpose at all times. 

 
 Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 
 
8) No dwelling shall be occupied until the vehicle access has been constructed to the base 

course level to enable access to the dwellings. 
 
 Reason: To ensure that acceptable access is achieved to the development and to safeguard 

other highway users at all times. 
 
9) Neither new dwelling shall be occupied until at least 1 electric vehicle charging point to serve 

that dwelling has been installed and is made available for use and retained thereafter. 
 
 Reason:  To facilitate the use of electric vehicles and to reduce air pollution and carbon 

emissions.    
 
Informatives 
 
 1)  The applicant is advised that the proposal will require the formal allocation of addresses.  

Contact the Development and Support team on 0151 934 4195 or E-Mail snn@sefton.gov.uk 
to apply for a street name/property number. 

 
 2)  The applicant is advised that all works to the adopted highway must be carried out by a 

Council approved contractor at the applicant's expense.  Please contact the Highways 
Development and Design Team at HDD.Enquiries@sefton.gov.uk for further information. 

 
 3)  If the proposed development is to incorporate piling in the foundation detail, the developer 

is advised to consult with Sefton Council Pollution Control (email 
ETSContact@sefton.gov.uk).  This will reduce the chance of enforcement action which could 
occur if an unsuitable method of piling is chosen without appropriate consultation and which 
subsequently causes nuisance by way of noise and/or vibration. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 21

Agenda Item 4a



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

Date of Meeting: 16th March 2022  

Subject:  DC/2021/00887 
 Land North of Kenyons Lane, Kenyons Lane, Lydiate         
 
Proposal: Erection of 291 dwellings together with new vehicular accesses off Liverpool Road 

and Kenyons Lane, public open space, children's play area and ancillary 
infrastructure 

 
Applicant: Bellway Homes Ltd 
 

Agent: Mr Steve Buckley 
 Peacock + Smith  

Ward:  Park Ward Type: Full application - major  
 
Reason for Committee Determination:  Major application with 5 or more objections 
 
 

 

Summary 
 
This application seeks full planning permission to construct 291 homes on land situated between 
Liverpool Road, Kenyons Lane and Northway (A59) in Lydiate. 
 
The main issues to consider are the principle of the development, its effects on highway safety, 
living conditions, flood risk and drainage and ecology, its design and visual impact as well as 
affordable housing, housing mix, public open space and landscaping issues, and infrastructure and 
Section 106 requirements. 
 
The proposal complies with adopted local plan and neighbourhood plan policy and, in the absence 
of any other material considerations, the application is recommended for approval subject to 
conditions and a legal agreement. 
 

Recommendation: Approve with conditions subject to the completion of 
a Section 106 legal agreement 
 
   
Case Officer Diane Humphreys 

 
 

Email planning.department@sefton.gov.uk  
Telephone 0345 140 0845  

Application documents and plans are available at: 

http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=QQVQUHNW07M00 

Page 23

Agenda Item 5a



Site Location Plan 
 

 

Page 24

Agenda Item 5a



The Site 
 
The application site comprises a roughly triangular parcel of land covering some 9.8 hectares. It 
extends to the north of Kenyons Lane as far as Robbins Island (the junction of the A59 and the 
B5407) with the A59 Northway forming its eastern boundary. Much of the site’s north-western 
boundary lies to the rear of residential properties fronting Liverpool Road (B5407).  
 
The site comprises vacant agricultural land including buildings at Highway Farm towards the 
northern part of the site. It also incorporates Morton’s Dairy located at the southern end of the 
site on Kenyons Lane. 
 
Generally, the site is bordered by residential uses to the south and north-west with land to the 
east comprising open fields. St Thomas CE primary school on Kenyons Lane lies to the south-west 
of the site. 
 

History 
 
None relevant  
 
Consultations 
 
Local Plans Manager 
No objections subject to conditions and a Section 106 legal agreement. 
 
Highways Manager 
No objection subject to conditions and financial contribution to the Kenyons Lane improvements.   
 
Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 
No objection subject to conditions. 
 
Police Architectural Liaison Officer 
No comments received. 
 
Environmental Health Manager 
No objection subject to conditions relating to noise, air quality and contaminated land. 
 
Flooding & Drainage Manager 
No objection subject to conditions.  
 
United Utilities 
No objection subject to a condition. 
 

Page 25

Agenda Item 5a



Merseyside Environmental Advisory Service 
No objection subject to conditions and/or Section 106 agreement. 
 
Natural England 
No objection subject to conditions and/or Section 106 agreement.  
 
Conservation Manager 
No objection. 
 
Tree Officer 
No objection subject to conditions. 
 
Lydiate Parish Council (following 23.11.21 meeting) 
The Parish Council wish to thank Bellway Homes for engaging in meaningful consultation with the 
Parish Council and local residents by making alterations to the proposals and finding a solution to 
the septic tank problem. However, concerns remain around the lack of clarity for the sale of 
Morton’s Dairy and planning permission should be conditional upon the sale of the dairy to the 
developer due to operational conflicts between the dairy and residents. Also grave concerns 
regarding increased traffic and access onto Kenyons Lane. Main entrance should be on the A59 or 
close to Robbins Island.  
 
NHS Sefton Clinical Commissioning Group  
The proposal should include provision to support local healthcare infrastructure. 
 
Fire and Rescue Service 
No objection. 
 

Neighbour Representations 
 
Bill Esterson MP wishes to clarify that whilst the meeting with Bellway in July did not take place, 
attempts were made to re-arrange the meeting. 
 
Over 50 written objections to the amended proposal have been received from addresses both in 
the immediate area and from further afield. The grounds of objection are summarised below: 
 
Visual Impact/Character of the Area 

 Building on Green Belt not brownfield 
 Too many new homes being built in the Maghull/Lydiate area 
 Loss of pleasant green area 
 Ugly concrete jungle developments are ruining the area 
 Three storey development out of character 
 Large development would ruin the small community of Lydiate 
 House design not in keeping with local area 

Page 26

Agenda Item 5a



 Loss of semi-rural aspect 
 Two storey homes should not be backing onto bungalows 
 Housing density too great 
 Layout not in total compliance with Neighbourhood Plan policy LNP HOU1 
 

Environmental Issues 
 Need to reduce carbon emissions 
 Higher levels of pollution a health concern 
 Loss of prime farmland 
 Loss of wildlife habitats 
 Not contributing to Sefton becoming carbon neutral 
 Site is prone to flooding 
 Off-site flooding impacts not fully investigated 
 Light pollution 
 

Highway Safety 
 Kenyons Lane is already busy and won’t be able to cope with extra traffic especially in the 

mornings 
 The extra traffic will be a hazard and cause congestion 
 Traffic surveys carried out during lockdown and there have been accidents since 
 Access should be from A59 or Robbins Island 
 Danger to children at St Thomas Primary School 
 Kenyons Lane unsuitable for construction traffic 
 Retention of Morton’s Dairy will make traffic worse 
 Inadequate car parking 
 

Infrastructure 
 Lack of doctors and dentists 
 Inadequate shops including lack of parking spaces at Maghull Square 
 Local schools are over-subscribed 
 

Living Conditions 
 Extra traffic will be a nuisance for local residents 
 Massive disruption during construction work 
 Don’t want a park behind our home 
 Noise impacts on existing homes 
 Stress and mental health impacts on local residents 
 

Other Issues 
 Developer’s profit at expense of local residents 
 Loss of property values 
 Unfair to have to pay for mains sewage and proposed offer unworkable 

Page 27

Agenda Item 5a



 No need for more houses 
 Retention of Morton’s Dairy contrary to Neighbourhood Plan 
 How will public spaces be managed/maintained? 
 Loss of countryside views 

 

Policy Context 
 
The application site is allocated for Housing in the Sefton Local Plan which was adopted by the 
Council in April 2017.   
                                                                                                                                                                                                          
The Lydiate Neighbourhood Plan was ‘made’ (i.e. adopted) in January 2019 and carries full weight 
in decision making.  
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          

Assessment of the Proposal 
 
Environmental Impact Assessment  
 
Merseyside Environmental Advisory Service (MEAS) has carried out a screening opinion for the 
purpose of determining whether Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) is required for this 
development under the terms of the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact 
Assessment) Regulations 2017. The proposal falls under Schedule 2 10(b) of the EIA Regulations 
2017, as an urban infrastructure project.  
 
Having reviewed the proposal and considered the project against the provisions of the EIA 
Regulations (including screening criteria presented in Schedule 3) and the relevant National 
Planning Practice Guidance, MEAS considers the proposals are unlikely to give rise to significant 
environmental effects from an EIA perspective. Therefore, the proposal is not considered to be 
“EIA development” and an Environmental Statement is not required in this case.  
 
Main Issues 
 
The main issues to consider are the principle of the development, its effects on highway safety, 
living conditions, flood risk and drainage and ecology, its design and visual impact as well as 
affordable housing, housing mix, public open space and landscaping issues, and infrastructure and 
Section 106 requirements. 
 
Principle 
 
The Sefton Local Plan and the Lydiate Neighbourhood Plan together make up the development 
plan for the application site. 
 
The application site forms the majority of a housing allocation site defined in the Sefton Local Plan. 
It is known as housing allocation MN2.29 ‘Land north of Kenyons Lane, Lydiate’ in policy MN2 

Page 28

Agenda Item 5a



‘Housing, Employment and Mixed-Use Allocations’. The policy identifies housing allocation MN2.29 
as having a site area of 10.1 hectares with an indicative capacity of 295 homes. The current 
application site has an area of 9.8 hectares and 291 homes are proposed. 
 
The Lydiate Neighbourhood Plan contains a site-specific policy for the allocated housing site. This is 
policy LNP HOU1 which states that “permission will be granted on this site for housing proposals 
which may include an element of extra-care provision which meet the following criteria”. The 
policy then lists 11 criteria ranging from transport and drainage factors to design and arrangement 
of the new homes. These specific criteria will be discussed under the relevant headings below. 
 
The proposal for 291 homes on the site is acceptable in principle when assessed against the 
development plan comprising the Sefton Local Plan and the Lydiate Neighbourhood Plan. 
 
Highway Safety 
 
The application, including the applicant’s Transport Assessments (TAs) and a supporting Technical 
Note (TN), has been reviewed by the Council’s Highways Manager in respect of highway safety 
impacts. The documents have been submitted in accordance with Local Plan policy IN2 ‘Transport’ 
and Lydiate Neighbourhood Plan policy LNP HOU1 viii. 
 
Vehicular, Cycling and Pedestrian Access 
 
Two vehicular accesses are proposed into the site, one on Kenyons Lane and one on Liverpool 
Road. Both accesses will be 5.5m wide and have footways either side with widths of at least 2 
metres. The Kenyons Lane access will have a right turn lane and pedestrian refuge to assist with 
pedestrian movement and vehicle manoeuvres in and out of the site. In accordance with the Local 
Plan site-specific requirement and Lydiate Neighbourhood Plan policy LNP HOU1 (ix), Kenyons 
Lane will be widened to two lanes from its junction with the A59 to the proposed vehicular access 
on Kenyons Lane. 
 
Sefton Council is currently preparing a scheme to improve the Kenyons Lane/A59 junction, which 
includes improved pedestrian and cyclist facilities. The developer will be expected to provide 
funding for the improvements to Kenyons Lane and these works will be incorporated into the 
Council’s scheme. 
 
For developments of more than 200 dwellings it is expected that at least two points of traffic 
access are provided to ensure adequate connectivity. This ensures better distribution of traffic and 
prevents all development traffic being funnelled in one direction. Having two points of access for 
the proposed development also ensures suitable emergency access to and from the development. 
Having two means of access ensures that there is a route for the emergency services, even if one 
access is blocked.  
 
In order to prevent rat running or funnelling of traffic to one access, the main route through the 
site is not direct or in the form of a spine road and the proposed layout has a suitable hierarchy of 

Page 29

Agenda Item 5a



roads with a main route that is not straight or direct. This is in accordance with Lydiate 
Neighbourhood Plan policy LNP HOU1 (ix). 
 
There will be 3m wide shared paths for pedestrians and cyclists through the site linking to Kenyons 
Lane, Liverpool Road and the A59 Northway. This is in accordance with LNP HOU (x) which seeks to 
encourage walking and cycling linking in with existing routes and the nearby future housing site. 
 
The applicant has demonstrated that each junction will have adequate vehicle visibility splays and 
parking restrictions will be required either side of each site access to ensure adequate visibility is 
maintained. 
 
The Lydiate Neighbourhood Plan policy LNP HOU1 (iii) requires that ‘if the site is partially 
developed until the dairy is relocated, the development must leave satisfactory access to the 
dairy’. This is adequately provided for as the access to the dairy will remain unchanged and is not 
affected by the separate access to the development site. 
 
Site Layout 
 
All roads within the site will be 5.5m wide with 2m wide footways which is acceptable. All 
driveways and road junctions must have unobstructed visibility splays which can be controlled by 
condition. There are some private driveways which are in accordance with the Council’s current 
guidance. 
 
The applicant has demonstrated that servicing and delivery vehicles can adequately negotiate the 
streets and turning heads within the estate.  
 
Car and Cycle Parking 
 
All the proposed dwellings will have the benefit of off-street parking facilities. The houses will have 
at least two off-street parking spaces and the flats/apartments at least one space. The number of 
spaces to be provided for each dwelling and layout of the parking is considered acceptable for a 
development in this location and is in accordance with Sefton’s ‘Sustainable Travel and 
Development’ Supplementary Planning Document (SPD). 
 
Cycle parking will be required in accordance with the SPD and electric vehicle charging 
infrastructure is also required for all developments requiring vehicle parking, which includes both 
dedicated spaces (for example in relation to a new house) and communal parking areas.  
 
Trip Generation and Impact on the Highway Network 
 
The junction modelling submitted by the applicant is based on 331 dwellings rather than the 
proposed 291 and gives projections on how the traffic will be distributed across the local network, 
capacity assessments of the A59/Kenyons Lane junction and mean queue lengths at the junction.  

Page 30

Agenda Item 5a



The developer undertook site surveys of the traffic movement in the area, reviewed existing pre-
covid survey and modelling data and National Census data in order to understand current traffic 
scenarios, trip destination and distributions. This enabled them to get baseline information to be 
used within the junction modelling.  
 
The junction modelling provides information for a future year of 2026 to account for the proposed 
development and to consider a level of future growth in general traffic. This has been carried out 
by the developer using the industry standard software TEMPRO, and modelling data provided for 
other developments within the area. This is considered a robust approach and provides a suitable 
assessment of the impact the development will have on the area, including the A59/Kenyons Lane 
junction.  
 
The modelling scenarios for the a.m. and p.m. peaks in 2026, with the inclusion of the additional 
right turning lane at the junction, show that the mean queue lengths will be slightly less than those 
currently observed. Therefore, the development traffic is shown not to adversely impact on the 
junction, subject to the proposed improvements.  
 
The proposed improvements to the A59/Kenyons Lane junction, as detailed within the application, 
incorporate a stage where all movements from the section of Kenyons Lane to the west of the A59, 
joining the A59 will be unopposed. This stage will include a filter arrow for right turning vehicles 
onto the A59. The design and modelling gives more green time to the left and straight ahead, as 
the right filter would start later and queuing for the right filter lane was not shown to extend so far 
back as to cause any blockages.  
 
The junction improvements will also include pedestrian/cyclist facilities to enable pedestrians to 
cross the A59 and Kenyons Lane, which provide sustainable transport improvements as well as 
accommodating the additional vehicle traffic.  
 
The modelling also demonstrates that the traffic associated with the development and using 
Kenyons Lane will predominantly be left turns out of the site heading towards the A59 or right 
turns into the site from Kenyons Lane. Irrespective of this, the Council ensured that the applicant 
carried out a review of the junction of Liverpool Road/Kenyons Lane in order to properly consider 
the impact the development would have not only at this junction but also for the whole of the 
section of Kenyons Lane from Liverpool Road to the A59.  
 
The modelling demonstrated that there would be an increase in vehicles on Kenyons Lane using 
the Liverpool Road junction but that the levels expected would be slight and would not have a 
significant impact.  
 
Therefore, with the proposed widening improvements to Kenyons Lane it is considered that the 
level of traffic generated from the development is not expected to have a severe impact on this 
junction and the wider highway network. 
 
 

Page 31

Agenda Item 5a



Accident Analysis 
 
Accident data has been submitted by the applicant and it is accepted that the information does 
not indicate any particular highway safety issues in the area. However, a series of traffic calming 
measures are required along the section of Liverpool Road between Kenyons Lane and the A59 for 
the purposes of highway safety and these can be achieved by condition. 
 
The accident analysis detailed that there had been one slight injury accident at the junction of 
Liverpool Road / Kenyons Lane / Lambshear Lane. This is an off-set four arm junction with priority 
to Liverpool Road. It is in close proximity to St Thomas Primary School and at busy peak periods 
there is a high demand for short term on street parking in the area. Parking regularly occurs close 
to this junction and, with the expected increase in traffic at this junction as a result of the 
proposed development, a Traffic Regulation Order will be required to prohibit parking at the 
junction. This can also be achieved through a condition. 
 
Accessibility 
 
A Minimum Accessibility Standard Assessment (MASA) has been submitted as part of the initial 
Transport Assessment’s review of the accessibility of the site. The applicant suggested that the 
review within the TA demonstrated that the proposed development can be accessed by a variety 
of travel modes, and that it would accord with local and national planning policy guidance. The 
applicant concluded that the site is accessible by non-car modes, which would assist in promoting 
a choice of travel modes other than the private car. However, the scores achieved in the MASA fell 
short of that expected for such a development for pedestrians and access to public transport. 
Further detailed consideration of the site’s accessibility was included in the updated TA. This 
suggested that the site is in a good location in terms of accessibility for cycling and that although 
the score within the MASA for pedestrians and access to public transport was below the expected 
level, the site can be considered accessible. 
 
It is considered that the site has some short comings in terms of its accessibility. In order to 
enhance the level of accessibility by sustainable modes of travel and to provide a development 
that would be acceptable in terms of the Local Plan policy EQ3, a package of highway 
improvements for pedestrians/cyclists will be required and these can be secured by condition. 
 
Other Highways Issues 
 
A scheme of street lighting on all roads within the development site can be secured by condition. 
 
A framework travel plan for the site has been submitted, which is generally acceptable, and a 
detailed travel plan can be secured by condition. 
 
Given the size and location of the proposed development a construction traffic management plan 
will be required. Details of the routes the construction traffic will take when accessing and leaving 
the site will be required and must be along routes that have the least impact on the residential 

Page 32

Agenda Item 5a



areas of Maghull and the Kenyons Lane area. A Construction Environmental Management Plan 
(CEMP) and Construction Management Plan have been submitted as part of the application and 
indicate that construction traffic will utilise an access on Liverpool Road at the northern part of the 
site. This will need to be detailed in the management plan as part of the condition requiring a 
detailed CEMP which can be secured by condition. 
 
Living Conditions 
 
Living conditions for existing residents surrounding the site and for future occupiers within the 
development both need to be assessed. The application is accompanied by a Noise Impact 
Assessment (NIA) which has been reviewed by the Environmental Health Manager. 
 
Existing Residents 
 
A construction noise assessment has been undertaken within the NIA and appropriate noise 
mitigation measures recommended. In addition, a Construction Environmental Management Plan 
(CEMP) has been submitted which includes measures to control noise and vibration during 
construction activities. The CEMP is generally acceptable and a detailed CEMP can be secured by 
condition. 
 
Separation distances between the proposed dwellings on the site and existing homes have been 
assessed in light of the guidance contained in Sefton’s ‘New Housing’ Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD). Relevant distances all meet or exceed the guidelines figures which are 21m 
between windows serving habitable rooms and 12m where a habitable room window faces a blank 
wall or a window serving a non-habitable room as well as a 10.5m minimum rear garden where 
this backs onto another rear garden.  
 
The majority of existing homes on Liverpool Road and Kenyons Lane have new properties backing 
onto them in accordance with Lydiate Neighbourhood Plan policy LNP HOU1 (v) ‘so as to not leave 
rears of houses vulnerable’ ‘where possible’. However, the new properties to the rear of Highway 
Farm Barns have been moved away from this boundary in order to provide satisfactory separation 
distances and minimise overlooking. The new dwellings will face towards the rear of Highway Farm 
Barns with access and parking space in front of the new properties and a landscaped area to the 
rear of Highway Farm Barns. This relationship is considered acceptable. 
 
Garden sizes for the new dwellings all meet or exceed the standards set out in the ‘New Housing’ 
and the ‘Flats and Houses in Multiple Occupation’ SPDs which are 50 sqm for 2 bed homes, 60 sqm 
for 3 bed homes and 20 sqm per flat. The amenity space for the flats is provided as communal 
space, which is private, usable and accessible to all residents in accordance with the guidance. 
 
Future Occupiers 
 
The NIA recommends acoustic glazing for most bedrooms and living rooms to new homes 
overlooking the A59 and alternative means of ventilation to opening windows for the majority of 

Page 33

Agenda Item 5a



plots on the eastern half of the site. These details can be secured by condition. 
 
Mitigation in the form of acoustic barriers is recommended for some garden areas in the eastern 
part of the site, the details of which can be covered by condition. 
 
Relocation of existing business 
 
The site currently contains an existing business, Morton’s Dairy. Whilst the principle of losing this 
business has been established through the allocation of the whole site for residential purposes, if it 
is retained for a period whilst homes on the site are occupied then paragraph 187 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework is relevant. This sets out that where the operation of an existing 
business could have a significant adverse effect on new development in its vicinity, the applicant 
(or agent of change) should be required to provide suitable mitigation before the development has 
been completed. A 3m high barrier is proposed around the Morton’s Dairy site whilst this business 
remains operational and the Environmental Health Manager considers this proposal to be 
acceptable. Full details and implementation of this barrier can be secured by condition. 
 
Air Quality 
 
An updated detailed air quality assessment (AQA) submitted with the application has been 
reviewed by the Environmental Health Manager. The assessment has considered the future impact 
the proposed development will have on air quality in the area and the impact of traffic emissions 
from the A59 on future occupiers of the proposed development. The assessment provides 
evidence to show that future air quality levels will not be unduly impacted upon by traffic 
associated with the proposed development and future residents will not be exposed to levels of air 
quality above national limits. The Environmental Health Manager raises no objections on air 
quality grounds subject to conditions requiring the provision of electric vehicle recharging points 
and a written scheme to control dust from the development during construction works. 
 
Flood Risk and Drainage 
 
Flood Risk 
 
The application is accompanied by a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) which has been reviewed by the 
Flooding and Drainage Manager. 
 
The site lies within Flood Zone 1 which includes areas at low probability of flooding from rivers or 
the sea. Local Plan policy EQ8 ‘Flood Risk and Surface Water’ states that development must be 
located in areas at lowest risk of flooding. 
 
Surface Water Drainage 
 
The majority of the site is at very low risk of surface water flooding although land in the northern 
part of the site is identified as being at low, medium and high risk of such flooding. The proposal 

Page 34

Agenda Item 5a



seeks to remove the risk of flooding from surface water ponding in isolated low points post-
development through ground contouring and provision of a sustainable drainage system.  
 
The sustainable drainage system involves run-off from buildings and adopted roads being directed 
to three geo-cellular infiltration tanks located beneath the central area of public open space. The 
sustainable drainage system will be managed and maintained by the developer through 
arrangements secured by a Section 106 legal agreement. Permeable paving will also be used on 
driveways and private shared access roads. 
 
The surface water drainage strategy will ensure that the 1 in 100 year plus climate change event is 
contained within the site.  
 
The FRA concludes that the risk of flooding is low and the proposals comply with Local Plan policy 
EQ8 ‘Flood Risk and Surface Water’. 
 
Lydiate Neighbourhood Plan policy LNP HOU1 (xi) ‘flood risk’ is also relevant and states that local 
knowledge of flooding incidents must be incorporated into the site-specific FRA via a consultation 
exercise and shall meet other policies in the Neighbourhood Plan and the Local Plan. The applicant 
advises that since the application was submitted, meetings have taken place with local residents 
and the Parish Council. These meetings have outlined local flooding instances which have helped 
develop the revised drainage strategy for the site.  
 
Foul Drainage 
 
The foul drainage proposals involve discharge to the public foul sewer in Kenyons Lane to the 
south of the site with provision for a foul pumping station as part of the development. 
 
Septic Tanks 
 
Residents on Liverpool Road backing onto the site currently have a septic tank arrangement for 
their foul sewage disposal. The developer has offered to assist these residents in connecting to the 
public sewer by providing the necessary infrastructure on the application site. Residents would 
need to provide infrastructure on their own land, arrange for their septic tank to be abandoned 
and pay fees to United Utilities to dispose of their foul sewage. Residents have been asked if they 
would be interested in this arrangement with the developer advising it would only be available 
during the construction phase. 
 
Some residents have expressed their interest whilst others have raised concerns in respect of the 
costs involved and impractical nature of the proposal.  
 
Whilst the concerns of residents are understood, resolution of the issue is not required by planning 
policy so it is not a material consideration in the assessment of this application but a civil matter 
between the parties involved. 

Page 35

Agenda Item 5a



 
The Flooding and Drainage Manager and United Utilities have reviewed the drainage strategy for 
the site and raise no objections subject to conditions. 
 
Open Space and Landscaping 
 
Open Space, Path Networks and Green Infrastructure 
 
Local Plan policy EQ1 ‘Healthy Sefton’ requires development to improve quality of life and make it 
easier for people to lead healthy, active lifestyles, including through providing opportunities for 
walking, cycling, outdoor recreation and sport.  
 
Policy EQ9 part 1 requires on schemes of 150 homes or more the provision of 40sqm of new public 
open space per home which equates to a 1.164ha requirement for the proposal. The layout plan 
identifies the provision of 1.54ha of open space across the development site. A significant portion 
of this (0.6ha) is to be located centrally within the site and a second significant area (0.5ha) located 
towards the Kenyons Lane end of the site behind Morton’s Dairy. These areas are considered to be 
functional and will provide sufficient space for formal and informal recreation for both residents 
within the site and also those in the wider area. This is in accordance with Lydiate Neighbourhood 
Plan policy LNP HOU1 (vii) which seeks to provide public open space that best serves existing and 
new residents. The Council normally expects an equipped children’s play area when open space is 
provided and this can be secured by condition. At least some of the play equipment should be 
located on the central area of public open space as this will be provided in one of the earlier 
phases of the development. As the open space is spread across the site, any delay to the relocation 
of the dairy would not undermine the timely provision of sufficient open space on the wider site. 
 
Areas of public open space within the site would be managed and maintained by the developer in 
accordance with details forming part of the Section 106 legal agreement. 
 
Part 6 of Local Plan policy EQ9 'Provision of public open space, strategic paths and trees’ requires 
links to paths and cycleways to be provided where they improve the accessibility of an existing 
community or development site, and Lydiate Neighbourhood Plan policies HOU1 and PATH set out 
specific requirements. The ‘Open Space’ SPD also sets out that on this site a path should be 
provided linking to Liverpool Road, with potential to connect with safeguarded site MN8.1 Land at 
Lambshear Lane, Lydiate and an off-road cycle route along the A59. The proposed layout provides 
such links which are considered acceptable. 
 
This is a major, urban edge site, next to countryside in the Green Belt. As such part 4b of policy 
EQ2 ‘Design’ requires structural planting to be provided to soften the urban edge and provide a 
suitable transition to open countryside. Part 7 of policy EQ9 'Provision of public open space, 
strategic paths and trees’ requires appropriate landscaping. Detailed landscaping proposals have 
been submitted showing structural planting around the edge of the site comprising retention and 
enhancement of the existing hedges and retention of existing trees with new perimeter tree 

Page 36

Agenda Item 5a



planting. Additional landscaping proposals within the site include tree, shrub, hedge, wildflower 
and bulb planting as well as amenity lawns and ornamental planting.  
 
The tree report has been reviewed by the Council’s Tree Officer. The report identifies ten 
individual trees, fifteen groups and four hedges as being relevant in terms of the proposals with 
the majority of this tree cover being of either moderate or low in quality and none being of high 
quality. The proposals require the loss of five individual trees, nine of the groups and two of the 
hedges with further partial loss of one of the groups and two hedges. The Tree Officer believes 
there will be some impact on visual amenity but this impact will be reduced by the retention of 
those trees identified along the A59 with the development of the site inevitably reducing the 
importance of the internal trees within their setting. Furthermore, due to the moderate to low 
quality of the trees to be lost, it is considered that the development should not be constrained by 
their retention and their loss will be mitigated by the proposed tree and hedge planting. 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (paragraph 131) requires new streets to be tree lined. The 
proposals provide for each of the key routes through the scheme to be tree lined. 
 
The landscaping scheme has also been reviewed by Merseyside Environmental Advisory Service 
and is acceptable from an ecological perspective. 
 
The landscaping scheme is considered acceptable and can be secured by condition.  
 
Ecology 
 
Habitats Regulations 
 
Merseyside Environmental Advisory Service (MEAS) and Natural England have reviewed the 
application in terms of ecological impact. 
 
The shadow habitats regulations assessment (HRA) submitted by the applicant concludes there will 
be likely significant effects on designated sites of nature conservation importance. These sites are 
protected under the Conservation of Habitats & Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) and Local 
Plan policy NH2 applies. 
 
An Appropriate Assessment is required in accordance with Regulation 63 (Habitats Regulations 
2017). MEAS have completed the Appropriate Assessment which must be read in conjunction with 
the shadow HRA Test of Likely Significant Effects to form the HRA for this application and for the 
conclusion of no impact on the integrity of the national sites network to be reached following 
additional mitigation for “in-combination effects”. The shadow HRA submitted by the applicant 
supports the HRA set out in Appendix 1 of this report with which the Competent Authority (i.e 
Sefton Council) can demonstrate its duties under the Habitats Regulations. 
 

Page 37

Agenda Item 5a



The Appropriate Assessment concludes there will be no adverse effect on site integrity of the 
above national sites networks provided mitigation measures are secured by suitably worded 
planning conditions and/or section legal 106 agreement. 
 
The measures include a commuted sum contribution for each new home to mitigate the impact of 
recreational pressure on the Sefton coast. This would require a total commuted sum of £63 x 291 
homes = £18,333 and can be secured by a Section 106 agreement in accordance with the 
Information Note approved for development management purposes in December 2021. In 
addition, a leaflet for new householders setting out information on the Sefton coast can be 
secured by condition. 
 
Natural England have raised no objections subject to these mitigation measures and their 
comments are reported in full at the end of this report (Appendix 2). 
 
Bats 
 
A Common pipistrelle bat day roost has been identified. Bats are protected species and Local Plan 
policy NH2 applies.  
 
The Local Authority is required to assess the proposals against the Three Tests (Habitats 
Regulations) in order to determine whether a European Protected Species (EPS) licence is likely to 
be granted by Natural England and to exercise its duty under the Habitats Regulations. MEAS 
advise that if the mitigation measures proposed by the applicant are implemented in full the Three 
Tests will be satisfied and Natural England are likely to grant an EPS license for the site. The 
detailed reasoning in respect of the Three Tests assessment is provided in Appendix 3.  
Implementation of the mitigation measures can be secured by planning condition.  
 
Barn owl 
 
Evidence of nesting barn owl was observed during the daytime bat survey in July 2021. MEAS have 
confirmed that the proposed barn owl mitigation strategy is acceptable and can be secured by 
condition. 

 
Design and Visual Impact 
 
The planning application is for a large residential development of 291 homes including public open 
space and associated infrastructure.  The homes are all two storeys comprising a mix of 
apartments, detached and semi-detached houses comprising between one and five bedrooms in a 
range of 22 house types. 
 
Local Plan policy HC3 part 4 states that new residential development must achieve a minimum 
density of 30 dwellings per hectare of the net developable area. The proposal for 291 homes on a 
net site area of 7.61 hectares equates to a density of 38 dwellings per hectare and accords with 
the policy. 

Page 38

Agenda Item 5a



 
The proposed layout complies with the relevant aspects of Lydiate Neighbourhood Plan policy LNP 
HOU1. For part (i) of the policy, requiring the design of the proposal to complement existing 
development on and adjacent to the site, the proposed development is two storeys in height and 
constructed in brick with some contrasting render and pitched tiled roofs. One of the house types 
has dormers. Overall, the proposed development complements the design of properties in the 
area which comprise a range of dwelling styles. These range from detached and semi-detached 
true and dormer bungalows and houses built in differing periods. Dwellings are constructed 
principally of brick but with some rendering. Proposed apartments in blocks of four units have the 
appearance of semi-detached homes not dissimilar to existing apartments at 132 to 142 Liverpool 
Road close to the junction with Kenyons Lane. 
 
In accordance with policy LNP HOU1 (ii), houses on the north-western edge face out of the site to 
provide natural surveillance and for part (iv) of the policy many of the houses towards the site’s 
eastern edge face Northway and are accessed via an internal road parallel to Northway with high 
quality landscaping similar to the existing arrangement at Ridgeway Drive to the south. 
 
As set out in the ‘landscaping’ section below and in line with part (vi) of policy LNP HOU1 the 
impact of the development on the rural feel of the area is mitigated by landscaping and the height 
of the development which is limited to two storeys. 
 
When assessing the application against Local Plan policy EQ2 ‘Design’, the proposal responds 
positively to the character, local distinctiveness and form of its surroundings, achieves a high 
standard of design and provides a suitable transition to open countryside through its provision of 
structural planting.  
 
For the above reasons, the design and visual impact of the proposal accord with the provisions of 
the relevant development plan policies.  
 
Affordable Housing and Housing Mix 
 
Affordable Housing 
 
Policy HC1 of the Sefton Local Plan (subsequently updated to reflect NPPF guidance) requires 30% 
of homes, calculated by units, in schemes of 15 homes or more in this location to be affordable. 
The affordable housing should be split by 67% as social or affordable rent and the remaining 33% 
as affordable home ownership.   
 
The layout plan includes a schedule of the homes, identifying those which are intended to be 
affordable. This shows that 88 of the 291 total homes will be affordable which equates to 30.2% 
and meets the policy requirement. 
 
Part 8 of Policy HC1 sets out that affordable housing should be “tenure blind” so that there are no 
external visual difference between the affordable and market housing. Itshould also be “pepper-

Page 39

Agenda Item 5a



potted” throughout the scheme, that is a reasonable distribution of affordable housing across the 
site and no groupings of more than 6 affordable homes. The affordable housing is fairly well 
distributed through the site with just one group of more than six affordable units (plots 71-78) and 
these are within two separate blocks of 4 flats that are accessed from separate roads. 
 
As the affordable housing is spread across the site, any delay to the relocation of the dairy would 
not undermine the timely provision of sufficient affordable housing on the wider site. 
 
The provision of affordable housing is considered acceptable. 
 
Housing Mix 
 
Policy HC2 requires that 25% of the market homes on the site should be 2-bedroom and 40% 
should be 3-bedroom. The schedule of market homes shows that 51 (25.1%) 2 bed homes and 81 
(39.9%) 3 bed homes will be provided. Whilst there is a very marginal under supply of 3 bedroom 
market homes this is offset by a marginal over provision of 2 bedroom homes and is considered 
acceptable. 
 
Policy HC2 of the Local Plan also requires that 20% of the market homes must be designed to meet 
Building Regulations Requirement M4(2) accessible and adaptable dwellings. This can be secured 
by condition. 
 
Provision of Infrastructure  
 
Health Facilities 
 
The South Sefton Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) commented on the proposal and set out 
that there are unprecedented demands on health care provision locally, including for GP services. 
They consider the development proposal would exacerbate these demands and place undue 
pressure on existing services. They suggest a contribution be secured from the developer towards 
local health care facilities to enable expanded services to be provided. On the recent approvals for 
the Land East of Maghull allocated site the Council agreed a contribution equivalent to £572 per 
home. For this current proposal this would equate to a total contribution of £166,452. The CCG has 
agreed this is an appropriate calculation and it can be secured for local health facilities in a Section 
106 agreement. 
 
Whilst the Council will secure this payment to local health facilities, the shortage of health staff is 
not something that can be resolved through a contribution as it is a national issue. However, 
through the provision of new housing, including a range of sizes and tenures across Sefton, the 
ability to attract a range of key workers to the borough is increased. The issues of pressure on local 
services through staff shortages is not resolved by restricting new housing and can be eased by 
attracting people to live in the area, including through an increased choice of new homes. 
 
 

Page 40

Agenda Item 5a



 
Schools 
 
The Local Plans Manager, in consultation with Education, advises that there are a number of 
primary schools within a reasonable distance to the proposal site. One of those schools, Lydiate 
Primary, has sufficient spare capacity to accommodate an increase of local school children on this 
development. There are plenty of spare places in Maghull’s three secondary schools to 
accommodate any increase in secondary school pupils from this and other developments in the 
area. No education contributions should therefore be sought from this proposal. 
 
Section 106 Requirements 
 
The following matters can be secured by a Section 106 legal agreement: 
 

 A minimum of 30% affordable housing split by 67% as social or affordable rent and 33% as 
affordable home ownership homes.   

 A financial contribution of £18,333 to mitigate the impact of recreational pressure on the 
Sefton coast. 

 A financial contribution of £166,452 towards local health facilities. 
 Management and maintenance arrangements for the on-site public open space, 

landscaping strips within the highway and sustainable drainage systems. 
 A £9,121.35 contribution towards monitoring of the Section 106 obligations. 

 
Other Issues 
 
Archaeology  
 
An Archaeological Desk-based Assessment (DBA) has been submitted in support of the application 
and has been reviewed by Merseyside Environmental Advisory Service (MEAS).  
 
In view of the site’s archaeological potential, MEAS advise that a programme of archaeological 
work is required which can be secured by condition. 
 
Heritage Assets 
 
The site is within the buffer zone of several non-designated heritage assets (NDHAs). However, the 
Conservation Manager advises the application would have only a minimal impact on the setting of 
the NDHAs and only minimal impact upon their respective significance.  
 
Waste 
 
The proposal is major development and involves excavation, demolition and construction activities 
which are likely to generate significant volumes of waste. In accordance with advice from 

Page 41

Agenda Item 5a



Merseyside Environmental Advisory Service, conditions are recommended to secure the 
minimisation of waste production and efficient use of resources. 
 
Contaminated Land 
 
Conditions have been recommended by the Environmental Health Manager to deal with any 
contaminated land and site remediation issues. 

 
Minerals 
 
The site falls within a Mineral Safeguarding Area as identified in the Local Plan. The applicant has 
submitted a Minerals Assessment Report in line with policy NH8 ‘Minerals’. The report concludes 
that the site is not suitable for mineral abstraction and Merseyside Environmental Advisory Service 
agree with this conclusion.  
 
Broadband 
 
A condition to secure full fibre broadband for all homes is recommended in accordance with 
advice contained in the National Planning Policy Framework paragraph 114. 
 
Planning Balance and Conclusion 
 
The proposal will provide 291 new homes, comprising a mix of one to five bedroom apartments 
and houses, on a site allocated for residential development in the adopted Sefton Local Plan. 
These will include 88 affordable homes. It also provides significant areas of public open space, 
including children’s play facilities, which will benefit the wider community, as well as cycle and 
pedestrian routes linking to the surrounding area. 
 
The visual impact of the scheme as well as its impacts on living conditions are considered 
acceptable subject to conditions. Whilst it is accepted that the development will generate 
additional traffic in the area, these impacts will be minimised by the proposed widening of 
Kenyons Lane and the package of improvements for pedestrians and cyclists. 
 
Overall, the proposal is generally considered to comply with policies in the Sefton Local Plan, the 
Lydiate Neighbourhood Plan and the requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
Approval is therefore recommended subject to the conditions listed below and a Section 106 legal 
agreement to secure affordable housing, mitigation of recreational pressure, local health facilities 
and management and maintenance arrangements for on-site public open space, landscaping strips 
within the highway and sustainable drainage systems as well as for the monitoring of these 
obligations. 

Page 42

Agenda Item 5a



Recommendation: Approve with conditions subject to the completion of 
a Section 106 Legal Agreement 
 
This application has been recommended for approval subject to the following conditions and 
associated reasons: 
 
Time Limit for Commencement 
 
1) The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration of five years 

from the date of this permission. 
 
 Reason: In order that the development is commenced in a timely manner, as set out in Section 

91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 
 
Approved Plans 
 
2) The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved plans and 

documents:  
 

Drawing No. LP01 Location Plan 
Drawing No. PL03A rev H Overall Planning Layout 
Drawing No. 13176-2001 rev R05 Outline Drainage Layout (1 of 2) 
Drawing No. 13176-2002 rev R05 Outline Drainage Layout (2 of 2) 
Drawing No. MAN-1154-ENZ-XX-01-DR-L-45-101 rev PL01 POS Soft Landscape Plan (1 of 5) 
Drawing No. MAN-1154-ENZ-XX-01-DR-L-45-102 rev PL01 POS Soft Landscape Plan (2 of 5) 
Drawing No. MAN-1154-ENZ-XX-01-DR-L-45-103 rev PL01 POS Soft Landscape Plan (3 of 5) 
Drawing No. MAN-1154-ENZ-XX-01-DR-L-45-104 rev PL01 POS Soft Landscape Plan (4 of 5) 
Drawing No. MAN-1154-ENZ-XX-01-DR-L-45-105 rev PL01 POS Soft Landscape Plan (5 of 5)  
Drawing No. MAN-1154-ENZ-XX-00-DR-L-45-101 rev PL02 POS Spine Road Soft Landscape Plan 
(1 of 2) 
Drawing No. MAN-1154-ENZ-XX-00-DR-L-45-102 rev PL02 POS Spine Road Soft Landscape Plan 
(2 of 2) 
Document No. ENZ.XX.00.SH.L.45.001 rev PL01 Spine Road Soft Landscape Schedule 
Document No. ENZ.XX.01.SH.L.45.001 rev PL01 POS Soft Landscape Schedule 
Drawing No. ML01 rev C Materials Layout Sheet 1 
Drawing No. ML01 rev C Materials Layout Sheet 2 
Drawing No. BH/NW/KL/EVCP/01 rev A Electric Vehicle Charging Point Plan 
Typical Brick Built Sub-Station Floor Plan and Elevations 
Proposed House Type Range February 2021 
Ecological Survey and Assessment Version 3 updated February 2022 
Arboricultural Impact Assessment Ref: P.1342.20 rev C 

 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt. 

Page 43

Agenda Item 5a



 
Before the Development is Commenced 
 
3) No development shall commence, including any demolition, site clearance or ground works, 

until a full phasing plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. The phasing plan shall include full details and timing for the provision of the on-site 
public open space and the provision and removal of the 3 metre high acoustic barrier around 
Morton’s Dairy. The development shall be implemented in accordance with the approved 
phasing plan. 

 
 Reason: These details are required prior to the commencement of development in order to 

ensure that the phases of development are managed properly and in order to safeguard the 
living conditions of the surrounding occupiers and future occupiers of the site. 

 
4) No development shall commence within any phase or sub-phase, including any works of 
 demolition, until a Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) for that phase or 
 sub-phase has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. 

 
The CEMP shall include: 
 
 The proposed times construction works shall take place. 
 Details of temporary construction access. 
 Parking arrangements for vehicles of site operatives and visitors. 
 Arrangements for the loading, unloading and storage of plant and materials. 
 The location of the site compound. 
 Wheel washing/road sweeping measures. 
 Measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction. 
 Measures to control the emission of noise during construction. 
 Details of external lighting to be used during construction. 
 The name and contact details of person(s) accountable for air quality and dust issues. 
 A programme for issuing information on construction activities to the occupiers of 
 nearby dwellings. 
 A construction traffic routing plan. 
 The times of the movement of heavy goods vehicles to and from the site. 
 A site waste management plan. 
 Details of any piling and the days and times when piling activity is proposed. 
 A sensitive lighting strategy which protects ecology and does not result in excessive light spill 

onto retained and newly created habitats.   
 No tree or scrub removal between 1 March and 31 August inclusive, unless informed by a 

suitably qualified ecologist in order to protect breeding birds. 

 Reasonable Avoidance Measures for protection of hedgehog and common toad. 

 A method statement for treatment and/or removal of invasive plant species.  

Page 44

Agenda Item 5a



 
The approved CEMP shall be implemented throughout the period of demolition, site remediation 
and construction. 
 
Reason: To safeguard the living conditions of local residents, and to maintain highway safety. 
 
5) No development or demolition shall take place within any phase or sub-phase until a 

programme of archaeological works in accordance with a Written Scheme of Investigation 
(WSI) within that phase or sub-phase has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority. The WSI must include the following five steps:  

•  A phased programme and methodology of site investigation and recording;  
•  A programme for post-investigation reporting to include production of a final report of 

the significance of the below-ground archaeological interest;  
•  Provision for appropriate publication and dissemination of the archaeology and history 

of the site;  
•  Provision for archive deposition of the report, finds and records of the site 

investigation; and  
•  Nomination of a competent person or persons / organisation to undertake the works 

set out within the approved WSI.  
 

Thereafter, the programme of work shall be fully carried out in accordance with the 
requirements and standards of the written scheme. 
 
Reason: The details are required prior to development or site clearance commencing to 
ensure that recording takes place at an appropriate period during the development process. 

 
6) No development shall commence until the approved scope of works for the investigation and 

assessment has been undertaken by competent persons and a written report of the findings 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The report shall 
include an appraisal of remedial options and identification of the most appropriate 
remediation option(s) for each relevant pollutant linkage.  Remediation shall proceed in 
accordance with the approved details.  

 
 Reason: The details are required prior to development or site clearance commencing to 

ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and neighbouring 
land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, ecological systems, property 
and residential amenity and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without 
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors. 

 
7) No development shall commence until a remediation strategy to bring the site to a condition 

suitable for the intended use by removing unacceptable risks and the relevant pollutant 
linkages identified in the approved investigation and risk assessment, has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The strategy must include all works to 
be undertaken, proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, timetable of works, 

Page 45

Agenda Item 5a



site management procedures and roles and responsibilities. The strategy must ensure that the 
site will not qualify as contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 
1990 on completion of the development.  The remediation strategy must be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details at all times. 

 
 Reason: The details are required prior to development or site clearance commencing to 

ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and neighbouring 
land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, ecological systems, property 
and residential amenity and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without 
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors. 

 
During Building Works 
 
8) In the event that previously unidentified contamination is found at any time when carrying out 

the approved development immediate contact must be made with the local planning authority 
and works must cease in that area. An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken 
and where remediation is necessary a remediation scheme must be prepared, which shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Following completion 
of the remedial works identified in the approved remediation strategy, verification of the 
works must be included in the verification report required by condition 16. 

 
 Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 

neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, ecological 
systems, property and residential amenity and to ensure that the development can be carried 
out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors. 

 
9) A minimum of 20% of new market properties shall meet Building Regulation Requirement 

M4(2) for accessible and adaptable dwellings. 
 
 Reason: To ensure an appropriate range of house types are available on the site.  
 
10) No development shall commence above slab level until a detailed scheme of highway works 

together with a programme for their completion has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority.  The scheme shall include the construction of a new 
priority junction including dropped kerbs and tactile paving at the site access on Liverpool 
Road. 

 
 No part of the development shall be brought into use until the required highway works have 

been constructed in accordance with the approved details. 
 
 Reason: These details are required prior to commencement above slab level to ensure that 

acceptable access to the development is achieved and to ensure the safety of highway users. 
 

Page 46

Agenda Item 5a



11) Prior to construction of access roads commencing above slab level a detailed scheme of traffic 
calming designed to maintain vehicle speeds at 20mph or less on the proposed access roads 
within the development site shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. The approved scheme shall be implemented in full before any dwelling 
within that phase of development is occupied. 

 
 Reason: These details are required prior to commencement above slab level to ensure the 

safety of highway users. 
 
12) Prior to construction of access roads commencing above slab level a detailed scheme of street 

lighting on the proposed access roads within the development site shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The approved scheme shall be 
implemented in full before any dwelling within that phase of development is occupied. 

 
 Reason: These details are required prior to commencement above slab level to ensure the 

safety of highway users. 
 
13) Foul and surface water drainage for the development shall be carried out in accordance with 

principles set out in the submitted Foul & Surface Water Drainage Design Drawings 13176-
2001 & 13176-2002, both Rev R05 and dated 02/03/21, prepared by WATERCO. 
 

 No surface water will be permitted to drain directly or indirectly into the public sewer. Foul 
and surface water shall drain on separate systems. The drainage scheme shall be completed in 
accordance with the approved details and retained thereafter for the lifetime of the 
development. 

 
 Reason: To ensure a satisfactory form of development and to prevent an undue increase in 

surface water run-off and to reduce the risk of flooding. 
 
14) Before any equipment, machinery or materials are brought onto site, a 1 metre high fence or 

other barrier as agreed in writing with the local planning authority, shall be erected around 
the outer limit of the crown spread of all trees, hedges or woodlands shown to be retained on 
the approved plan. The barrier/fencing shall be maintained in a satisfactory manner until the 
development is completed. During the period of construction, no material shall be stored, fires 
started or trenches dug within these enclosed areas. 

 
 Reason: To prevent damage to the trees/ hedges in the interests of visual amenity. 
 
15) The Mitigation Strategy for Roosting Bats (Section 5.6) and the Barn Owl Mitigation Strategy 

(Section 11.5) of the Ecological Survey and Assessment Report Version 3 dated 16 February 
2022 shall be implemented in full during the demolition and construction phases of the 
development. 

 
 Reason: To safeguard conservation of species/habitats. 

Page 47

Agenda Item 5a



 
Before the Development is Occupied 
 
16) Before any part of the development hereby permitted is occupied/brought into use a 

verification report that demonstrates compliance with the agreed remediation objectives and 
criteria shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. 

 
 Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 

neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, ecological 
systems, property and residential amenity and to ensure that the development can be carried 
out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors. 

 
17) Prior to the occupation of the first dwelling, full details of an information pack to be provided 

to residents promoting the use of suitable alternative natural greenspace and highlighting the 
sensitivity of the Sefton Coast Special Area of Conservation, shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The approved information must be 
provided to future residents on first occupation of each dwelling thereafter. 

 
 Reason: To mitigate impacts on the Sefton Coast Special Area of Conservation. 
 
18) No dwelling hereby approved shall be occupied until details of full fibre broadband 

connections to all proposed dwellings within the particular phase or sub-phase has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.  The infrastructure shall 
be installed prior to occupation and made available for use immediately on occupation of any 
dwelling in accordance with the approved details.  

 
 Reason:  To ensure adequate broadband infrastructure for new dwellings and to facilitate 

economic growth. 
 
19) No dwelling shall be occupied until the electric vehicle charging point for that dwelling has 

been installed and is operational in accordance with the approved details.  The approved 
infrastructure shall be permanently retained thereafter. 

 
 Reason: To facilitate the use of electric vehicles and to reduce air pollution and carbon 

emissions. 
 
20) The development shall not be occupied until a detailed scheme of highway works together 

with a programme for their completion has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority.  The scheme shall include:    

 
 Bus stop improvements to the stops of both sides of the A59 north of the Kenyons Lane 

junction, including the provision of bus laybys. 

Page 48

Agenda Item 5a



  Provision of a new bus stop with shelter and access kerbs on the south east side of 
Liverpool Road approximately 95 metres north east of the proposed access junction 
serving the site. 

  Construction of a minimum 3 metre wide shared use path running along the perimeter of 
the site from the proposed pedestrian/cycle access opposite Moss Lane to its junction 
with the exiting footway on the A59 adjacent to the eastern boundary of the development 
site. 

 Construction of a 2 metre wide footway along the south east side of Liverpool Road from 
the site access road to the proposed pedestrian/cycle access opposite Moss Lane. 

 Upgrading of the existing pedestrian refuge on Liverpool Road at its junction with the A59 
to provide for pedestrian and cycle use. 

 The provision of dropped kerbs on both side of Liverpool Road adjacent to the pedestrian 
refuge to be upgraded. 

 Construction of a series of 3m wide shared use paths along the eastern boundary of the 
site connecting the development with the existing footway along the western side of the 
A59. 

 The widening of Kenyons Lane to provide a two lane approach to the junction with the 
A59.  

 The construction of a new priority junction including dropped kerbs and tactile paving at 
the site access on Kenyons Lane. 

 
 No part of the development shall be brought into use until the required highway works have 

been constructed in accordance with the approved details. 
 
 Reason: These details are required prior to occupation to ensure that acceptable access to the 

development is achieved and to ensure the safety of highway users. 
 
21) Prior to the first occupation of any dwelling all areas required for vehicle parking, turning and 

manoeuvring for that dwelling shall be laid out, demarcated, levelled, surfaced and drained in 
accordance with the approved plan and these areas shall be retained thereafter for that 
specific use. 

 
 Reason: To ensure that enough car parking is provided for the development and to ensure the 

safety of highway users. 
 
22) No dwelling shall be occupied until facilities for the secure storage of cycles have been 

provided in accordance with details to be submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority and they shall be retained in perpetuity thereafter. 

 
 Reason: To ensure that enough cycle parking is provided for the development in the interest 

of promoting non-car based modes of travel. 
 
23) No part of the development shall be brought into use until visibility splays of 2.4 metres by 25 

Page 49

Agenda Item 5a



metres at all driveways and road junctions within a particular phase or sub-phase have been 
provided clear of obstruction to visibility at or above a height of 1.0 metres above the 
carriageway level. Once created, these visibility splays shall be maintained clear of any 
obstruction and retained for their intended purpose at all times. 

 
 Reason:  To ensure adequate visibility for those entering and exiting the site and to safeguard 

other highway users at all times. 
 
24) No dwelling shall be occupied until visibility splays of 2.0 metres x 2.0 metres measured down 

each side of its driveway and the back edge of the footway have been provided clear of 
obstruction to visibility at or above a height of 1.0 metres above the footway level. Once 
created, these visibility splays shall be maintained clear of any obstruction and retained for 
their intended purpose at all times. 

 
 Reason: To ensure adequate visibility for those entering and exiting the site and to safeguard 

other highway users at all times. 
 
25) Prior to the first occupation of any dwellings within a particular phase, a plan indicating the 

positions, height, design, materials and type of boundary treatment to be erected, including 
acoustic barriers to be provided within the site, shall be submitted to and approved by the 
local planning authority. The boundary treatment shall be completed as approved before the 
dwellings become occupied and retained thereafter. 

 
 Reason: To ensure an acceptable visual appearance to the development, to protect the living 

conditions of future occupiers of the site and to ensure that the privacy of neighbouring 
occupiers/land users is retained at all times. 

 
26) Prior to the first occupation of any dwellings within a particular phase, full details of a scheme 

of acoustic glazing and ventilation for dwellings within that phase shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The approved glazing and ventilation units 
must be installed before the dwellings become occupied and retained thereafter. 

 
 Reason: To safeguard the living conditions of occupiers of the site. 
 
27) No dwelling hereby approved shall be occupied until full details of an equipped children’s play 

area, including a timetable for implementation, to be provided within the site have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The play area shall be 
provided in accordance with the approved details and retained as such thereafter. 

 
 Reason: To promote a healthy lifestyle and ensure that play equipment is provided in a timely 

manner.  
 
28) No dwelling shall be occupied until a gap of 13cm by 13cm has been provided within the base 

of each length of boundary fencing serving the respective plot in order to maintain 

Page 50

Agenda Item 5a



connectivity for hedgehog. The gap shall be maintained free of obstruction at all times. 
 
 Reason: to secure biodiversity enhancement. 
 
Ongoing Conditions 
 
29) Within the first planting/seeding season following completion of a particular phase of the 

development, all planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of landscaping 
for that phase shall be carried out; and any trees or plants which within a period of 5 years 
from the completion of that phase of the development die, are removed or become seriously 
damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size 
and species. 

 
 Reason: To ensure an acceptable visual appearance to the development. 
 
30) Within 6 months of the development being first occupied or brought into use a Travel Plan 

comprising immediate, continuing and long-term measures to promote and encourage 
alternatives to single-occupancy car use has been prepared, submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority. The approved Travel Plan shall then be implemented, 
monitored and reviewed in accordance with the agreed Travel Plan Targets.  

 
 Reason: In order to meet sustainable transport objectives including a reduction in single 

occupancy car journeys and the increased use of public transport, walking & cycling. 
 
31) No tree which is to be retained shall be cut down, uprooted or destroyed, or have surgery 

undertaken, without the written approval of the Local Planning Authority, within 1 year from 
the completion of the development.  Any such trees removed or dying shall be replaced with 
trees of a size and species to be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority in the next 
available planting season. 

 
 Reason: To ensure an acceptable visual appearance to the development. 
 

Notes to Applicant 
 

1. The applicant is advised that the proposal will require the formal allocation of addresses.  
Contact the Development and Support team on 0151 934 4195 or E-Mail 
snn@sefton.gov.uk to apply for a street name/property number. 
 

2. The applicant is advised that all works to the adopted highway must be carried out by a 
Council approved contractor at the applicant's expense.  Please contact the Highways 
Development and Design Team at HDD.Enquiries@sefton.gov.uk for further information. 
 

3. There will be a requirement for the applicant to enter into a s278 Highways Act 1980 Legal 

Page 51

Agenda Item 5a



Agreement to facilitate the works on the adopted public highway and a s38 Highways Act 
1980 Legal Agreement to have the proposed new carriageways and footways within the 
development adopted by the Council. Please contact Seftons Highway Development and 
Design team in this respect - email: HDD.Enquiries@sefton.gov.uk 
 

4. The applicant is advised of the requirement to implement the following Traffic Regulation 
Orders (TROs): 

 Introduction of waiting restrictions to prohibit parking at all times on the proposed 
site access junctions at Kenyons Lane and Liverpool Road  

 Introduction of waiting restrictions to prohibit parking at all times along both sides 
of Kenyons Lane from its junction with the A59 to a point adjacent to no.62 Kenyons 
Lane  

 Introduction of waiting restrictions to prohibit parking at all times along the north 
side of Kenyons Lane from a point adjacent to no.62 Kenyons Lane to no less than 
40 metres west of the proposed site access road 

 Introduction of a 20mph speed limit on the proposed access roads within the 
development site. 

 
5. Unless otherwise agreed by the Local Planning Authority, development other than that 

required to be carried out as part of an approved scheme of remediation must not 
commence until conditions 6 and 7 above have been complied with. If unexpected 
contamination is found after development has begun, development must be halted on that 
part of the site affected by the unexpected contamination to the extent specified by the 
Local Planning Authority in writing, until condition 16 has been complied with in relation to 
that contamination.  Contaminated land planning conditions must be implemented and 
completed in the order shown on the decision notice above. 
 

6. This permission is subject to a Section 106 legal agreement.  
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 52

Agenda Item 5a



 

Appendix 1 Appropriate Assessment 
 

Page 53

Agenda Item 5a



 
 
 

P
age 54

A
genda Item

 5a



 
 
 

P
age 55

A
genda Item

 5a



 

P
age 56

A
genda Item

 5a



Appendix 2 Natural England Response 

Page 57

Agenda Item 5a



Page 58

Agenda Item 5a



 

Page 59

Agenda Item 5a



 

Page 60

Agenda Item 5a



Appendix 3 Three Test Assessment 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 61

Agenda Item 5a



 
 

P
age 62

A
genda Item

 5a



Report to: PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

Date of Meeting: 16th March 2022 

Subject:  DC/2021/01452 
 25 Weld Road, Birkdale, Southport, PR8 2DR       
Proposal: Erection of a three-storey building comprising 9 apartments and associated 

landscape works including raising the floor slab levels by 550mm (part alternative 
to planning reference DC/2020/00586) 

 
Applicant: Intunique Developments Ltd. 
 

Agent: Mr. Gary Willis, Aldrock Ltd  

Ward:  Dukes Ward Type: Full application - Major (as submitted)  
 
Reason for Committee Determination:  More than 5 objections received 
 
 

 

Summary             
This application seeks consent for the erection of a three-storey block of 9 apartments to the front 
of a cleared site on Weld Road, Birkdale that has implemented a permission for a three-storey 
block of 6 flats (plus three houses to the rear of the site).  As the principle of development and a 
general extent of development has been established through the implemented permission the 
main issues to consider for this proposal are the material changes between the extant approval 
and the development as proposed. 
 
It is considered that the changes in appearance, an increase of 3 units and the raising of finished 
floor levels does not cause any detrimental harm to the character of the area and that the impacts 
to neighbouring properties will be no greater than that previously considered acceptable.     It is 
therefore recommended that the application is granted consent with conditions. 
 
 

Recommendation: Approve with Conditions  
 
   
Case Officer Neil Mackie 

 
 

Email planning.department@sefton.gov.uk  
Telephone 0345 140 0845  
 
 

Application documents and plans are available at: 

http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=QU16U8NWKDW00 

Page 63

Agenda Item 5b



Site Location Plan 
 

 

Page 64

Agenda Item 5b



The Site          
A cleared site accessed off Weld Road within a primarily residential area of Birkdale that has extant 
permission for residential development. 
 

History    
 
 
Planning permission was granted in 2020 for the erection of a three-storey block of 6 flats to the 
front of the site along with 3 houses to the rear after the demolition of the existing building.  This 
application has recently been varied to allow for amendments to the appearance of the three 
houses as well as the raising of the ground level to address drainage matters.    

Consultations 
Contaminated Land Team 
No objection to the proposed development and confirm that no works are required in respect of 
land contamination.  
 
Tree Officer 
The site appears to contain some poor-quality scrub which would be removed as part of the 
proposed scheme. As the loss of this vegetation is mitigated with the submitted landscaping 
scheme I have no objections to the application.  
 
Merseyside Environmental Advisory Service 
No objections to the proposal following confirmation the existing building has been demolished.  A 
Habitats Regulations Assessment was undertaken and found that the proposal would have no 
likely significant effects on protected sites.  
 
Environmental Health Manager 
No objections to the proposal.  
 
Highways Manager 
There are no objections in principle to the proposals as there would be no adverse highway safety 
impacts, subject to a number of conditions being attached to any approval.  
 
United Utilities 
Following receipt of amended details no objection subject to conditions requiring the 
implementation of the submitted drainage layout as well as ensuring foul and surface water are 
drained on separate systems.  
 
Flooding & Drainage 
Following amendments no objection to the proposal subject to a condition requiring the 
implementation of the submitted drainage layout.  
  

Page 65

Agenda Item 5b



Neighbour Representations         
Objections received from Numbers 1, 2, 5, 10, 12, 14 & 15 Hollyhurst Lodge Weld Road, Numbers 
7, 8, 10 & 11 Prince Charles Gardens and an unknown property. 
 
A number of objectors have made reference to this application as well as that for the variation to 
the consented houses at the rear of the site (reference DC/2021/01700) and as such it isn't clear in 
some representations as to what issues related to which application (or they relate to the original 
application).  As such, where the comments are not clear they have been applied to this 
application as well as to DC/2021/01700. 
 
Objectors have raised the following points, with flooding and highway concerns the most 
frequently mentioned: 
 
Character of the Area 
- Proposal is an overdevelopment of the site, not in keeping with adjacent housing 
- Three-storey development is out of character, where there are only two-storey properties 
 
Flooding & Drainage 
- The proposal does not address local concerns regarding flooding 
- At present the site has been suffering from excess surface water, with standing water regularly 
seen 
- Consider that the use of a soakaway will not work to this site 
- Consider that excess surface water arising from the development will drain onto Weld Road and 
adjacent properties 
 
Harm to Neighbouring Properties 
- Likely to require piling, which could affect houses close to the site 
- Harm arising through overlooking of neighbours 
- Harm caused through overshadowing of neighbours 
- Vehicle movements to rear parking area will cause harm 
 
Car Parking 
- Too few spaces to serve the site and visitors 
- Spaces are too small, and contrary to Council guidance 
- Weld Road is very busy and any additional on-road parking would be detrimental to safety 
- Insufficient on-site car parking will cause visitors/occupiers to park on Weld Road and Prince 
Charles Gardens 
- Further on-street car parking will cause an unnecessary additional hazard and danger to people 
turning onto or crossing Weld Road. 
 
Future Living Conditions 
- Outside communal gardens for the flats is very limited 
 

Page 66

Agenda Item 5b



Councillor Watson has also submitted an objection to this proposal, supporting the observations 
made by local residents. 
    

Policy Context 
The application site lies within an area designated as Primarily Residential in the Sefton Local Plan 
which was adopted by the Council in April 2017.   

Page 67

Agenda Item 5b



Assessment of the Proposal     
This application is seeking consent for the erection of a three-storey building of 9 apartments 
along with the raising of the floor slab levels by 550mm. 
 
Members may recall the extant permission for this site for a three-storey block of 6 apartments 
along with three houses (reference DC/2020/00586) that was determined by Committee at its 
meeting on 30th September 2020, the report for which is attached as Appendix 1. 
 
This application will supersede that approved, in part, through increasing the number of flats to 
the frontage flat block as well as amending the appearance of the development.  The principle of 
development has been established by that consent, which has been implemented, and that 
represents a realistic fallback to which significant consideration must be given. 
 
In view of the fallback the main issues to therefore consider are the changes between that 
approved and that proposed, focussing on any material changes to the impact on the character of 
the area, the living conditions for future occupiers and the impact on neighbouring properties. 
 
For ease the elevations of the approved development and the proposal are set out below:  
 
 
Approved Elevations 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 68

Agenda Item 5b



Proposed Elevations 
 

 
 
 
Character of the Area 
As with the approved design, the proposal will be of a symmetrical appearance with two projecting 
gables to either side albeit at a shallower angle and less pronounced than as approved. The 
chimneys from the extant permission are not included, with a hipped roof rather than a dual 
pitched roof with gable ends.   
 
In scaling the proposed elevation and that of the approved elevation, the proposal is 0.5m lower to 
the ridge height (12.4m versus 12.9m), 0.4m higher at eaves height (8.5m versus 8.1m) and the 
building (excluding roof overhang) is 0.4m wider than that previously approved (19.5m versus 
19.1m).   
 
This alternative design approach, most notable for the omission of chimneys, will not represent a 
reduction in design quality over that as approved.  The views of the Council's conservation officers 
that the "three-storey building is acceptable in size, mass, style and height" are agreed with. 
 
On this matter it is considered that the proposal is compliant with the aims and objectives of the 
Local Plan and all other material considerations. 
 
 
 

Page 69

Agenda Item 5b



Living Conditions 
Future Occupiers 
Good outlook will be provided to each of the flats and the individual room sizes and overall flat 
sizes meet or exceed the recommendations within the Council's guidance for flat developments. 
 
In respect of the provision of private outdoor amenity space 3 of the 9 flats fall below the 
recommended minimum of 20m2 per flat, with the outdoor areas to these flats being no more 
than 16m2 (80% of the requirement).  Within the extant approval 3 of the 6 flats has a shortfall 
(two at 16m2 and one at 19.4m2) and so this current application provides no worse a situation 
based upon the proportion of flats overall that have a shortfall.  The Council's guidance for flats 
does allow for a shortfall in the provision of private outdoor amenity space where, as applicable 
here, the proposal is “within easy walking distance to a local centre, where the benefits of being 
close to community facilities and public transport are significant”.  As is evident, this site is close to 
Birkdale local centre with the benefits that this would bring.  In addition the application site is also 
within close walking distance of the coast. Each flat will have its own private area of outdoor 
amenity space that will provide space for drying of clothes, for example, while the nearby coast 
and local centre will provide for wider leisure and recreation needs. On balance it is therefore 
considered that the shortfall here is acceptable. 
 
Neighbouring Properties 
This proposed development will not, by virtue of its scale, siting and appearance cause any greater 
impacts to the living conditions of neighbouring properties through overshadowing or a loss of 
privacy. 
 
The increased number of units to this part of the site is likely to result in an increase in comings 
and goings, both vehicular and pedestrian, but such an increase will not be materially more 
harmful to the living conditions of neighbouring residents than that previously considered.  The 
previous approval recommended a condition seeking an acoustic boundary to mitigate any 
potential  impacts from vehicular traffic to the flat development (as well as the houses to the rear)  
and the same could be attached here in the event of an approval. 
 
Further, the increase in ground level to the site (no more than 0.45m) will not result in any greater 
impacts on neighbouring living conditions by itself or in combination with matters relating to 
overshadowing, loss of privacy or noise impacts. 
 

Screens can be installed to the sides of the outdoor terraces, where necessary, so as to ensure that 
they do not cause unacceptable impacts on privacy to neighbouring properties. 
 

The proposal is acceptable on this point. 
 
Other Matters 
 

Flooding and Drainage 

Page 70

Agenda Item 5b



So as to address concerns from the Lead Local Flooding Authority (LLFA) and United Utilities (UU), 
the development involves the raising of the finished floor level, plus a raising of the ground levels 
in the site as a whole. This, along with the submitted drainage details, has satisfied both the LLFA 
and UU in respect of surface water drainage and this approach ensures compliance with the Local 
Plan in respect of flooding. 
 
Highway Safety & Amenity 
 
While objectors have raised concern regarding the number of car parking spaces to be provided 
on-site as well as the impacts on the movement of vehicles along Weld Road, this view is not 
supported by the Council's Highway Manager.  The Highways Manager considers that there is 
sufficient on-site car parking facilities and that the proposal will not cause harm to the movement 
of vehicles along Weld Road. 
 
Recreational Pressure 
 
A Habitats Regulations Assessment was undertaken by the Council’s ecological advisors, 
Merseyside Environmental Advisory Service (MEAS), which concluded that there are no likely 
significant effects arising from this development.  The development as amended falls under the 
proposed 'Sefton Recreation Mitigation Scheme', which applies to developments of 10 or more 
new homes in Sefton.  As this proposal provides for 9 units  the contribution towards projects that 
help reduce the impact of coastal visitors is not required.  Further, the requirement for production 
and provision of a leaflet setting out the nature importance of the Sefton Coast for all first-time 
occupiers of the flats is also not required. 
 
Conclusion 
In view of the above it is considered that  the proposal is appropriate to the character of the area, 
will provide sufficient standard of living conditions for future occupiers and will not cause 
unacceptable impacts to the living conditions of neighbouring properties, and will be acceptable in 
highway safety terms.  The proposal  complies with the aims and objectives of the Local Plan and 
all other material considerations. 
 
It is therefore recommended that this application is granted consent with the conditions that 
follow. 
       

Recommendation - Approve with Conditions  
 
Time Limit for Commencement 
1) The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration of five years 

from the date of this permission. 
 
 Reason:  In order that the development is commenced in a timely manner, as set out in 

Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 

Page 71

Agenda Item 5b



 
Approved Plans 
2) The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved plans and 

documents: 
 

Plans 
 
LP 001 'Location Plan' 
001 Rev 'Site Layout' 
002 Rev A 'Proposed Contextual Elevations - Villa' 
V001 Rev A 'Proposed Plans - Villa' 
V002 Rev B 'Proposed Elevations - Villa' 
2028 Rev A 'Landscape Key Plan' 
2028 Rev A 'Proposed Landscape Plan - Sheet 1 of 3' 
2028 Rev A 'Proposed Landscape Plan - Sheet 2 of 3' 
2028 Rev A 'Plant Schedule, Specification Notes & Details' 
CL8589-002 Rev T3 'Proposed Drainage Layout' 
 
Documents 
 
Solar Study 30/03/21 
Highways Note, ref P21015 
Final Ground Investigation Report, ref 31576-SUT-ZZ-00-RP-G-702-0002  
Flood Risk Assessment & Drainage Management Strategy, ref CL8589-DMS-VS issue No 5 
 
Reason:  For the avoidance of doubt. 

 
Before the Development is Commenced 
3) No development shall commence, including any works of demolition, until a Highways 

Construction Management Plan has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local 
planning authority.  

 
 Reason: This is required prior to the commencement of development in order to ensure the 

safety of highway users during both the demolition and construction phase of the 
development.  If the details are not approved prior to commencement it will prejudice the 
safety of highway users. 

 
4) No development shall commence until details of all wheel washing facilities have been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The approved 
measures shall include provision for the wheel washing of every vehicle directly engaged in 
construction/demolition activity prior to it leaving the site and shall be implemented during 
the course of the entire demolition/construction period. 

 

Page 72

Agenda Item 5b



 Reason: To ensure the safety of highway users during both the demolition and construction 
phase of the development. 

 
During Building Works 
5) The drainage for the development hereby approved, shall be carried out in accordance with 

principles set out in the submitted Foul & Surface Water Drainage Design Drawing CL8589-
002, Rev T3- Dated 20/08/21, (inputted on the planning system on 14/01/2022) which was 
prepared by SWF. For the avoidance of doubt and unless otherwise agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority, surface water must drain at the restricted rate of 6.5 l/s into the 
public surface water sewer. The development shall be completed in accordance with the 
approved details. 

 
 Reason: To ensure a satisfactory form of development and to prevent an undue increase in 

surface water run-off and to reduce the risk of flooding. 
 
Before the Development is Occupied 
 
 6) No part of the development shall be brought into use until visibility splays of 2.4 metres by 

25 metres at the proposed junction with Weld Road have been provided clear of obstruction 
to visibility at or above a height of 1m above the carriageway level of Weld Road . Once 
created, these visibility splays shall be maintained clear of any obstruction and retained for 
their intended purpose at all times. 

 
 Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 
 
7) No part of the development shall be brought into use until visibility splays of 2.0 metres x 2.0 

metres measured down each side of the access and the back edge of the footway have been 
provided clear of obstruction to visibility at or above a height of 1 metre above the footway 
level of Weld Road.   

 
 Once created, these visibility splays shall be maintained clear of any obstruction and retained 

for their intended purpose at all times. 
 
 Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 
 
8) No part of the development shall be brought into use until a means of vehicular and 

pedestrian access to the development has been constructed. 
 
 Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 
 
9) No part of the development shall be brought into use until areas for vehicle parking, turning 

and manoeuvring have been laid out, demarcated, levelled, surfaced and drained in 
accordance with the approved plan and these areas shall be retained thereafter for that 
specific use. 

Page 73

Agenda Item 5b



  
 Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 
 
10) No part of the development shall be brought into use until space and facilities for cycle 

parking have been provided and these facilities shall be retained thereafter for that specific 
use. 

 
 Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 
 
11) The development shall not be occupied until details of electric vehicle charging points (to a 

level required by Supplementary Planning Document 'Sustainable Travel and Development') 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.   

 
 The development shall not be occupied until the electric vehicle charging points have been 

installed and are operational in accordance with the approved details.   
 
 The approved infrastructure shall be permanently retained thereafter. 
 
 Reason: To facilitate the use of electric vehicles and to reduce air pollution and carbon 

emissions. 
 
12) The screening of the terrace/balcony to the side elevation facing Prince Charles Gardens shall 

be installed prior to the first occupation of the relevant flat and maintained as such 
thereafter. 

 
 Reason:  In the interests of the living conditions of neighbouring properties. 
 
13) To improve biodiversity details of bat boxes and bird nesting boxes (e.g. number, type and 

location on an appropriately scaled plan) to be placed or erected within the site must be 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval prior to the occupation of any of the 
units hereby approved. 

 
 The bat and bird boxes must then be installed prior to occupation of any dwelling and 

maintained as such thereafter. 
 
 Reason:  In the interests of biodiversity 
 
13) No residential unit hereby approved shall be occupied until details of full fibre broadband 

connections to all proposed dwellings within the development has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The infrastructure shall be installed 
prior to occupation and made available for use immediately on occupation of any dwelling in 
accordance with the approved details.  

 

Page 74

Agenda Item 5b



 Reason:  To ensure adequate broadband infrastructure for new dwellings and to facilitate 
economic growth. 

 
14) a) Prior to the occupation of any dwelling hereby approved a plan indicating the height, 

extent and material for an acoustic boundary to the side boundary with Number 27 Weld 
Road and Prince Charles Gardens along the access road must be submitted to an approved 
by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
 b) The boundary treatment shall be completed as approved before any of the units are 

occupied and maintained as such thereafter. 
 
 Reason:  To mitigate noise impacts arising from movements of vehicles along the access 

road. 
 
15) Prior to first occupation of any of the houses a validation report demonstrating that the 

drainage scheme has been carried out in accordance with the approved drainage layout shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.   

 
 The approved works shall be retained as such thereafter. 
 
 Reason: To ensure adequate provision is made for the management of surface water and 

sewage disposal. 
 
Ongoing Conditions 
16) Within the first planting/seeding season following completion of the development, or to an 

agreed timetable, all planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of 
landscaping shall be carried out; and any trees or plants which within a period of 5 years 
from the completion of the development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or 
diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size and species. 

 
 Reason: To ensure an acceptable visual appearance to the development. 
 
17) Foul and surface water shall be drained on separate systems. 
 
 Reason:  To secure proper drainage and to manage the risk of flooding and pollution. 
 
 
Informatives 
1)  The applicant is advised that the proposal will require the formal allocation of addresses.  

Contact the Development and Support team on 0151 934 4195 or E-Mail snn@sefton.gov.uk 
to apply for a street name/property number. 

 
2)  The applicant is advised that all works to the adopted highway must be carried out by a 

Council approved contractor at the applicant's expense.  Please contact the Highways 

Page 75

Agenda Item 5b



Development and Design Team at HDD.Enquiries@sefton.gov.uk for further information. 
 
3)  If the proposed development is to incorporate piling in the foundation detail, the developer 

is advised to consult with Sefton Council Pollution Control (email 
ETSContact@sefton.gov.uk).  This will reduce the chance of enforcement action which could 
occur if an unsuitable method of piling is chosen without appropriate consultation and which 
subsequently causes nuisance by way of noise and/or vibration. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 76

Agenda Item 5b



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 1 – Committee Report for extant 
approval DC/2020/00586 

 
  

Page 77

Agenda Item 5b



 
Report to: PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

Date of Meeting: 30th September 2020 

Subject:  DC/2020/00586 
 25 Weld Road, Birkdale, Southport, PR8 2DR       
Proposal: Erection of a three-storey building comprising 6 apartments, together with 3 

houses and associated landscape works following demolition of the existing 
building. 

 
Applicant: Mr. Mark Heggarty 
  Birkdale Village 
Developments Limited 
 

Agent: Mr. Mathew Giles 
 MgMaStudio Ltd.  

Ward:  Dukes Ward Type: Full application - MAJOR  
 

 

Summary 
 
The proposal seeks approval for the erection of a block of 6 flats to the front of the site and a row 
of three houses to the rear of the site following the demolition of the existing building.  The main 
issues to consider in respect of the proposal are the principle of development, the impact on the 
character of the area, the loss of a non-designated heritage asset, the living conditions for future 
occupiers and the impact on the living conditions of neighbouring properties.   
 
For the reasons set out it is considered that the proposal is appropriate in its context, will provide  
suitable living conditions for future occupiers and will not cause significant harm to living 
conditions of neighbouring properties.  Further, the benefits arising from the proposal outweigh 
the harm from the loss of the non-designated heritage asset.  It is therefore recommended that 
the proposal is granted consent with conditions. 
 

Recommendation: Approve with Conditions  
 
   
Case Officer Neil Mackie 

 
 

Email planning.department@sefton.gov.uk  
Telephone 0345 140 0845  
 
 

Application documents and plans are available at: 

http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=Q87WFNNWJ7E00 

Page 78

Agenda Item 5b



Site Location Plan 
 

 

Page 79

Agenda Item 5b



The Site            
A detached building on Weld Road within a primarily residential area of Southport. 
  

History        
N/1999/0728 - Outline Application for the erection of a three storey block of 12 self-contained 
flats (7 x two-bed and 5 x one-bed) with two blocks of garages (12 in total) to the rear after 
demolition of existing building.  Approved 25th November 1999. 
 
N/1989/0473 - Erection of a detached bungalow in the rear garden to be used in connection with 
the existing residential home.  Refused 28th June 1989. 
     

Consultations 
 
Contaminated Land Team 
Due to the sensitivity of the development and based on the information submitted by the 
applicant it is recommended that 4 of the standard Contaminated Land conditions are attached to 
any approval.  
 
Highways Manager 
There are no objections in principle to the proposal as there are no adverse highway safety 
impacts. 
 
The site is located in close proximity to the district centre and is in an accessible location with easy 
access to bus routes on Weld Road and Lulworth Road and Birkdale Train Station is within 400m. 
 
The position of the new access road where it meets Weld Road should afford adequate visibility in 
both directions for drivers leaving the site. 
 
The proposed vehicle access will be gated, with the gate set back from the highway enabling 
vehicles to wait within the curtilage of the site whilst the gates are being opened, without 
obstructing the highway. 
 
It is proposed that each dwelling will have at least two car parking spaces, which is appropriate 
given the size and location of the site. 
 
Electric vehicle charging points will be required. 
 
Suite of conditions recommended to be attached to any approval.  
 
Merseyside Environmental Advisory Service 
Comments on amended scheme and further information to be provided in Late Representations 
 
 

Page 80

Agenda Item 5b



Tree Officer 
No objection to the loss of low quality trees/shrubs and hedge within the site subject to suitable 
replacement planting.  
 
Natural England 
No objection.  
 
United Utilities 
No objection subject to conditions requiring sustainable drainage scheme and that foul and surface 
water are drained on separate systems 
 
Neighbour Representations 
         
Application as Originally Submitted 
 
Objections from 8 properties on Prince Charles Gardens, Weld Road, Saxon Road and Liverpool 
Road. 
 
Points of objection are: 
 
Character of the Area 
Proposal will harm existing character of the area 
3-storey houses are out of character and overbearing in an area of 2-storey developments 
No similar developments within the area 
Density of development is too great 
Loss of trees within the site is harmful 
Upset that this incredible building will be demolished as properties like this should be conserved 
 
Detrimental Impact on Neighbouring Properties 
Currently no development beyond existing property, introduces obvious and overwhelming 
development 
Neighbouring properties will be overlooked 
Neighbours will have loss of privacy 
Neighbouring properties will be overshadowed/loss of light 
Proposed houses will introduce poor outlook from neighbouring properties 
Houses will be overbearing and have a dominant effect on habitable rooms 
Increased noise & disturbance from motor vehicles accessing the parking areas to the rear of the 
site 
Disturbance from occupation and use of four houses to the rear of the site 
New landscaping will block light into neighbouring gardens and properties. 
Disturbance and harm arising from demolition and through construction 
 
Insufficient Living Conditions for Future Occupiers 

Page 81

Agenda Item 5b



Lack of outdoor space for the flats - with public open space more than a mile away  
Query the size of the rear gardens to the houses 
 
Highway Safety and Amenity 
Application underestimates the speed and volume of traffic on Weld Road and issues with on-
street car parking 
No regard has been had as to the junction of Prince Charles Gardens on to Weld Road, which is 
within 60m of the site 
Proposal will have a negative impact on traffic flows and movements along Weld Road and 
Birkdale Village 
Inadequate on-site car parking to support the proposal 
 
General Comments 
No consultation by the applicant with neighbouring properties 
The submitted design and access statement is incorrect in stating that neighbours adjacent to the 
proposed houses are 3 storey when they are 2 storey. 
Query need or demand for this development 
House to the rear has previously been refused 
Concerns that opening up access to the rear of the site will contribute to increased crime to rear of 
properties on Prince Charles Gardens 
 
In addition a representation was received from the Merseyside & West Lancashire Bat Group 
stating that further surveying was required to fully assess the impact on bats. 
 
Councillor Watson also made representations regarding this application, stating initially that on 
balance the application would enhance the area, but he had concerns as to the increase in density. 
 
A property on Weld Road submitted a neutral representation stating that they were surprised that 
there is no mention of solar panels on the roof or charging points for electric cars as part of the 
development. 
 
Application as Amended 
 
Objections from 2 properties on Prince Charles Gardens and Weld Road. 
 
- Sefton Council will be destroying a piece of Birkdale history and residents are losing the heritage 
of Birkdale 
- Development shouldn't be permitted when a bungalow in the grounds was previously refused 
- Money grabbing application 
- There have never been buildings in the garden 
- Three houses will overlook properties on Prince Charles Gardens 
- Three-storey houses not in keeping with two-storey houses on Prince Charles Gardens 
- Apartment building will block late afternoon and evening light into neighbouring gardens and 
habitable rooms 

Page 82

Agenda Item 5b



- Proposed houses are too close to existing houses 
- Vehicles from development would be a disturbance due to noise 
    

Policy Context 
 
The application site lies within an area designated as Primarily Residential in the Sefton Local Plan 
which was adopted by the Council in April 2017.   

Page 83

Agenda Item 5b



 
Assessment of the Proposal 
       
The main issues to consider in respect of this application are the principle of development, the 
impact on the character of the area, the loss of a non-designated heritage asset, the living 
conditions to be provided to future occupiers and the impact on the living conditions of 
neighbouring properties. 
 
Principle of Development 
 
As this site lies within a designated Primarily Residential Area Local Plan policy HC3 'Residential 
Development and Primarily Residential Areas' is of direct relevance.  This allows for new residential 
development where it is consistent with other Local Plan policies. 
 
This policy also requires development to achieve a minimum density of 30 dwellings per hectare, 
except in the circumstances as laid out.  The site is just under 0.2ha in size and provides for 9 
dwellings, which ensures a density of more than 30 dwellings per hectare. 
 
Subject to the assessment of the other matters that follow, the principle of development can be 
accepted. 
 
Character of the Area 
 
Local Plan policy EQ2 'Design' only permits development where it responds positively to the 
character, local distinctiveness and form of its surrounding. 
 
The density of development is akin to that seen to Prince Charles Gardens and to other modern 
redevelopments along Weld Road.  Prince Charles Gardens to the right hand side of the site is an 
example of large properties fronting Weld Road being demolished and replaced with a mix of 
properties fronting Weld Road and then being set behind frontage properties.  This is also seen to 
Saxon Road to the rear of the application site.  The proposal will therefore be consistent with the 
prevailing grain and layout of development in the immediate area. 
 
The scale and appearance of the Villa, containing the six flats, is appropriate to the area. The 
incorporation of common features into the design such as projecting gables, canted bay windows 
to ground and first-floor, chimney stacks and sash windows with sandstone cills and heads ensures 
that the proposal will be a positive addition to the character of the area. 
 
The three houses to the rear will be largely screened from Weld Road by the distance to the 
highway and the scale of the frontage Villa.  The reduced scale and detailing to the houses 
compared to the Villa ensures that they are subservient to that frontage building, which is 
appropriate for backland development. 
 

Page 84

Agenda Item 5b



Reference has been made by objectors to a refusal of a bungalow to the rear of the site in 1989 
but there have been material changes in circumstance such as three developments plans for 
Sefton in 1995, 2006 and 2017 being adopted since that date, which allows for a different view to 
be taken at this time. 
 
In view of the above the proposal is considered to be acceptable. 
 
Loss of Non-Designated Heritage Asset 
 
Number 25 Weld Road is not included within the Historic Environment Record as a non-designated 
heritage asset, as shown on the publicly available 'Sefton Interactive Maps Online'.  There are a 
number of properties and structures set out within this such as Numbers 13 and 13c, The 
Fisherman's Rest, The Park Hotel (all Weld Road). 
 
Notwithstanding the above, objectors to the proposal bemoan the further loss of what they 
consider to be part of Southport's built heritage and as such it has to be considered that this 
building is a non-designated heritage asset. 
 
Local Plan policy NH15 'Non-designated Heritage Assets' states that "development affecting a ... 
non-designated heritage asset or its setting will be permitted where the aspects of the asset which 
contribute to its significance are conserved or enhanced" and at a national level the NPPF states in 
paragraph 197 that "the effect of an application on the significance of a non-designated heritage 
asset should be considered in determining the application. In weighing applications that directly or 
indirectly affect non-designated heritage assets, a balanced judgement will be required having 
regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the significance of the heritage asset." 
 
The agent for the application was made aware of this matter and provided the following response: 
 
"When considering Policy NH15, it is critical  to also consider the explanatory text to the Policy. 
Paragraph 11.139 accepts the value of heritage which is not designated varies - and generally that 
which has a greater level of historic interest and value in the community will be afforded greater 
protection. The explanatory text goes on to highlight that a balanced judgement is required to 
establish the scale of harm or loss against the significance of the Heritage Asset.   
 
Whilst there is no dispute that some level of historical value can be ascribed to the existing 
building on this site, it is not of such significant value to warrant its Listing and neither is it within a 
Conservation Area. In terms of its architectural merit, there are other such examples in the local 
area, and it cannot therefore be considered as unique.   
 
In terms of the local context to the Site, existing housing dates from various era's and styles, with 
much dating to the 1960's and 1970's, some of which are three storey town houses and there are 
also some modern apartment blocks which extend to four storeys in height.   
 

Page 85

Agenda Item 5b



Whilst the existing building is of some architectural merit, its setting has already been significantly 
compromised by modern adjoining development. Importantly, the proposed development is high 
quality in nature, of architectural merit and would provide much needed housing in the area. The 
existing building is not capable of conversion for modern use and given its large size has not been 
of interest to purchasers. If left undeveloped, the site and property itself will fall into further 
decline and this would have a significant adverse impact to the amenity of residents.   
 
On balance, whilst the existing building may be of some interest in heritage terms, it is not Listed, 
neither is it within a Conservation Area. Its loss would not be so significant so as to warrant the 
refusal of this application on heritage terms when taking account of the numerous other benefits 
associated with this development. Whilst Policy NE15 forms part of the planning balance, it is not 
considered determinative in this instance." 
 
The above is noted but the demolition of the building will neither conserve nor enhance aspects of 
the asset that contribute to its significance.  This is contrary to policy NH15 and will have to be 
considered as part of the planning balance, which will have due regard to the comments provided 
by the agent in determining the weight to be afforded to this matter. 
 
Living Conditions of Future Occupiers and Neighbouring Properties 
 
Future Occupiers 
 
Good outlook is provided from all habitable room windows to the three houses and the rear 
gardens are private and the size of each exceeds the Council's minimum requirements. 
 
Good outlook is provided from the first and second floor flats, with views unobstructed by any 
enclosures or neighbouring buildings.  To the rear of the building the outlook to the ground-floor 
flats may be constrained due to distance to the enclosures of the outdoor amenity areas, but views 
will be had over the enclosures.  This will be apparent to any future occupier.  All the flats are of an 
acceptable size and have a main bedroom size that exceeds the Council's minimum standards. 
 
The three ground-floor flats will have separate areas of open space to the rear which are usable 
and exceed the minimum required per flat.  The private outdoor amenity space to the first and 
second floor flats is limited to individual terraces.  The terraces to flats 4 and 5 to the first floor 
measure 16m2 each and that to flat 6 on the second floor measures 19.4m2.  The terraces fall 
short of the minimum required within the Council's guidance, 20m2 per flat, but this guidance 
does allow for a shortfall.  A shortfall of 20% for the first-floor flats is considered to be acceptable 
on balance as they are private and useable and the 0.6m2 to the second-floor flat is a minimal 
reduction. It is considered that the proposal is compliant with guidance. 
 
Secure cycle storage is to be provided to the rear of the Villa, which aids the accessibility of the 
site. 
 
On this matter the proposal is acceptable 

Page 86

Agenda Item 5b



 
-Neighbouring Properties 
 
There were concerns that the proposal as submitted with a row of 4 houses to the rear would have 
a detrimental impact on the outlook from habitable room windows and would overshadow rear 
gardens to neighbouring houses on Prince Charles Gardens.  So as to address this the applicant 
reduced the number of houses from 4 to three and increased the distance between the right hand 
house and the side boundary to Numbers 12 & 13 Prince Charles Gardens. 
 
The reduction in numbers and increased separation has ensured that a policy compliant outlook is 
retained from habitable room windows to Numbers 12 & 13.  To demonstrate that the proposal 
will not give rise to significant harm through overshadowing the applicant submitted sunpath 
drawings showing the impacts at specific hours throughout the year.  As is evident, there will be 
some overshadowing arising from the amended scheme but this is limited in time and is largely 
towards the rearmost parts of the neighbouring gardens.  This is considered to be acceptable. 
 
It is not considered that the proposed Villa building will give rise to any greater impacts to Number 
27 Weld Road or Numbers 7 & 8 Prince Charles Gardens than would be caused by the existing 
building.  The villa is around 1m further from the boundary, which reduces impacts arising from 
overshadowing.  There may be impacts from the introduction of a vehicle access to the right hand 
side but this can be managed through the use of acoustic boundary treatments. 
 
The impacts of overlooking or any subsequent loss of privacy are likely to be less than that which 
could be caused by the existing building, particularly with the size and number of existing windows 
to the side elevation.  The screening of terraces to the proposed Villa will lessen any direct 
overlooking to neighbours by directing views towards the proposed houses, rather than to 
neighbours. 
 
For the above reasons the amended proposal is compliant with the Council's guidance and Local 
Plan policies. 
 
Other Matters 
 
Highway Safety and Amenity 
 
As set out in the comments received by the Highways Manager the proposal does not cause harm 
to highway safety or amenity subject to a number of conditions. 
 
Ecology 
 

Page 87

Agenda Item 5b



The Bat Roost Assessment considered that the building had a high potential to hold bats and as 
such emergence and re-entry surveys were required.  The surveying has been undertaken and a 
report submitted, which has stated that no bats were recorded within the building and no roosts 
were identified. No mitigation is proposed as there is not to be a net loss of existing habitat.  
However it is an aim to increase biodiversity and as such it is considered reasonable for this 
scheme both within the Villa and the 3 houses to provide for bat bricks or other roosting features.  
This can be secured by a condition attached to any approval. 
 
Flooding & Drainage 
 
An amended surface water drainage scheme, to take into account of the amended proposal, will 
be required and this can be secured by condition. 
 
Planning Balance 
 
At the heart of both the Local Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development. There are three dimensions to sustainable 
development: economic, social and environmental. These roles are interdependent and must be 
jointly sought to achieve sustainable development. 
 
As seen above, the proposal is considered to be appropriate within the area, whilst it has been 
demonstrated that the proposal would be capable of providing satisfactory living conditions for 
future occupiers, would not cause harm to the living conditions of neighbouring properties or 
cause harm to highway safety.  No weight can be given to these elements as they are policy 
requirements and must be met as a minimum for any development. 
 
The proposal will contribute 9 dwellings to Sefton's housing supply.  The Council can currently 
demonstrate a five year housing land supply but the windfall of 9 units is beneficial.  While 
meeting the social objective set out in paragraph 8 of the NPPF this matter can only be afforded 
limited weight given the limited number of dwellings.  
 
Paragraph 80 of the NPPF states that significant weight should be placed on the need to support 
economic growth. The proposal through the construction of the dwellings and expenditure 
associated with additional households in the area may provide minor economic benefits given the 
scale of development to which limited weight is attached as it will accord with the economic 
objective set out in paragraph 8 of the NPPF. 
 
Weighing against the proposal is the harm arising from the total loss of a non-designated heritage 
asset.   
 
The weight to be given to the loss of a non-designated heritage asset in its entirety is difficult to 
determine.  According to paragraph 197 of the NPPF "a balanced judgement will be required 
having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the significant of the heritage asset" and this 

Page 88

Agenda Item 5b



approach is also reflected in the explanatory text to Local Plan policy NH15 'Non-designated 
Heritage Assets'. 
 
The demolition of the building in its entirety cannot be said to have limited weight, given the asset 
and its accompanying significance will be lost.  However, as it is not an asset of community value or 
a designated heritage asset, it is not considered that this matter can be afforded significant weight.  
Cross references to the balancing act or levels of harm applicable to designated heritage assets are 
not of merit here as the NPPF clearly differentiates in chapter 16 between designated and non-
designated assets. 
 
While objectors cite the loss of the building as being detrimental to the character of the area it has 
not been selected within the Historic Environment Record as a 'formal' non-designated heritage 
asset.   
 
It is considered that the architectural merits of the building are limited and lessened further by 
additions and alterations made over the years.  It is a private property to which there is limited 
public interaction, other than views of it from the road so it does not have the social contribution 
in terms of serving a community need or being a community facility. Its contribution to the 
streetscape is also limited given the better examples of this form elsewhere along Weld Road and 
surrounding highways. 
 
In having regard to the above only moderate weight can therefore be attached to the loss of this 
non-designated heritage asset. 
 
As weighed up, the benefits of the proposal outweigh the loss of the building. 
 
Conclusion 
 
For the reasoning set out above the proposal is acceptable and the application should be approved 
with the conditions that follow. 
       

Recommendation - Approve with Conditions  
 
Time Limit for Commencement 
 
 1) The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration of five years 

from the date of this permission. 
 
 Reason:  In order that the development is commenced in a timely manner, as set out in 

Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 
 
 
 

Page 89

Agenda Item 5b



Approved Plans 
 
 2) The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved plans and 

documents: 
 
 Drawings 
 
 9-005_001 'Location Plan' 
 9-005_SK001 'Proposed Site Plan' 
 9-005_SK003 Rev B 'Proposed Houses Floor Plans & Partial Site Plan' 
 9-005_102 Rev B 'Proposed Villa Floor Plans & Partial Site Plan' 
 9-005_104 Rev B 'Proposed Elevations Villa' 
 9-005_105 Rev B 'Proposed Elevations - Houses' 
 
 Documents 
 
 Arboricultural Impact Assessment, ref 20/AIA/Sefton/18, dated March 2020 
 Bat Roost Assessment - Preliminary Building Inspections, ref 8690-WeldRdBRA-B1-SB, dated 

04.05.2020 
 Bat Emergence Report, ref 25WeldRd-8868-Version1-SB, dated 27.08.2020 
 Comparative Sun Study (received 25th August 2020) 
 Highways Note, Prime Transport Planning, dated February 2020 
 Technical Note, Prime Transport Planning, dated 20th August 2020 
 Phase 1 Desk Study Report, ref A3494/20, dated April 2020 
 
 Reason:  For the avoidance of doubt. 
 
Before the Development is Commenced 
 
 3) a) Prior to the commencement of development, including the demolition of the existing 

building, a Construction Traffic Management Plan shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.    

 
 b) The provisions of the Construction Traffic Management Plan approved under (a) above 

shall be implemented in full during the period of construction and shall not be varied unless 
otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. 

 
 Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 
 
 4) Prior to commencement of development, other than the demolition, the approved scope of 

works for the investigation and assessment must be undertaken by competent persons and a 
written report of the findings must be produced. The report should include an appraisal of 
remedial options and identification of the most appropriate remediation option(s) for each 

Page 90

Agenda Item 5b



relevant pollutant linkage. The report is subject to the written approval of the Local Planning 
Authority. 

 
 Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 

neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, ecological 
systems, property and residential amenity and to ensure that the development can be 
carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite 
receptors. 

 
 5) Prior to commencement of development, other than demolition, a detailed remediation 

strategy to bring the site to a condition suitable for the intended use by removing 
unacceptable risks and the relevant pollutant linkages identified in the approved 
investigation and risk assessment, must be prepared and is subject to the approval in writing 
of the Local Planning Authority. 

 
 a) The strategy must include all works to be undertaken, proposed remediation objectives 

and remediation criteria, timetable of works, site management procedures and roles and 
responsibilities. The strategy must ensure that the site will not qualify as contaminated land 
under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 on completion of the development 
and commencement of its use. 

 
 b) In the event that the proposed remediation scheme involves the provision of a ground 

cover system a plan indicating the existing and proposed external ground levels on the 
application site shall be submitted for approval to the Local Planning Authority. 

 
 c) The development shall proceed in accordance with the external ground levels approved 

under (b) unless the Local Planning Authority gives its prior written approval to any variation. 
 
 Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 

neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, ecological 
systems, property and residential amenity and to ensure that the development can be 
carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite 
receptors. 

 
 6) a) The approved remediation strategy must be carried out in accordance with its terms prior 

to the commencement of development other than that required to carry out remediation 
(e.g. demolition). 

  
 b) Following completion of the remedial works identified in the approved remediation 

strategy, a verification report that demonstrates compliance with the agreed remediation 
objectives and criteria must be produced, and is subject to the approval in writing of the 
Local Planning Authority, prior to commencement of use of the development. 

 

Page 91

Agenda Item 5b



 Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, ecological 
systems, property and residential amenity and to ensure that the development can be 
carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite 
receptors. 

 
 7) Prior to development commencing other than the demolition of the existing building full 

details of a scheme for a surface water sustainable drainage system to serve the site, and 
method of implementation shall be submitted in accordance with submitted for 
consideration by the Local Planning Authority in consultation with Lead Local Flood 
Authority. 

 
 The details must include: 
 
 - Information about the lifetime of the development and design of the sustainable drainage 

system design, including storm periods and intensity (1 in 30 & 1 in 100 year + appropriate 
allowance for climate change), discharge rates and volumes (both pre and post 
development), methods employed to delay and control surface water discharged from the 
site, and appropriate measures taken to prevent flooding; 

 
 - Demonstrate that the surface water run-off would not exceed the pre-development 

greenfield runoff rate for an existing greenfield site or 5 l/s, whichever is greater; 
 
 - Demonstrate that the runoff volume from the development to any sewer or surface water 

body in the 1 in 100 year (plus climate change), 6 hour rainfall event, does not exceed the 
greenfield runoff volume for the same event or is as close as is practicable; 

 
 - Include details of a site investigation (which should be carried out prior to design) to 

support infiltration proposals 
 
 - Topography and finished floor levels. Include details of how any flood water, including 

depths, will be safely managed in exceedance routes; 
 
 - Secure means of access for maintenance and easements, where applicable 
 
 - Include a timetable for implementing the scheme. 
 
 Reason: To ensure a satisfactory drainage system is provided to serve the site in accordance 

with the Paragraph 103 of the National Planning Policy Framework, House of Commons 
Written Statement 161 for Sustainable Drainage Systems and Policy EQ8 of the Local Plan. 

 
 
 
 

Page 92

Agenda Item 5b



During Building Works 
 
10) No tree felling, scrub clearance, hedgerow removal or vegetation management is to take 

place during the period 1 March to 31 August inclusive. If it is necessary to undertake works 
during the bird breeding season then all trees, scrub, hedgerows and vegetation are to be 
checked first by an appropriately experienced ecologist to ensure no breeding birds are 
present. If present, details of how they will be protected must be submitted to and approved 
by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
 Reason:  In the interests of ecology. 
 
11) a) In the event that previously unidentified contamination is found at any time when carrying 

out the approved development immediate contact must be made with the Local Planning 
Authority and works must cease in that area. An investigation and risk assessment must be 
undertaken and where remediation is necessary a remediation scheme must be prepared, 
which is subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority.  

 
 b) Following completion of the remedial works identified in the approved remediation 

strategy, verification of the works must be included in the verification report required by 
Condition 6. 

 
 Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 

neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, ecological 
systems, property and residential amenity and to ensure that the development can be 
carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite 
receptors. 

 
Before the Development is Occupied 
 
12) a) Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, no dwelling shall be 

occupied until a detailed scheme of highway improvement works for the alteration of the 
existing footway crossing to increase its current width together with a programme for the 
completion of the works has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  

 
 b)  No part of the development shall be brought into use until the required highway 

improvement works have been constructed in accordance with the details approved under 
(a) above. 

 
 Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 
 
13) No part of the development shall be brought into use until visibility splays of 2.4 metres by 

25 metres at the proposed junction with Weld Road have been provided clear of obstruction 
to visibility at or above a height of 1m above the carriageway level of Weld Road . Once 

Page 93

Agenda Item 5b



created, these visibility splays shall be maintained clear of any obstruction and retained for 
their intended purpose at all times. 

 
 Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 
 
14) No part of the development shall be brought into use until visibility splays of 2.0 metres x 2.0 

metres measured down each side of the access and the back edge of the footway have been 
provided clear of obstruction to visibility at or above a height of 1 metre above the footway 
level of Weld Road.   

 
 Once created, these visibility splays shall be maintained clear of any obstruction and retained 

for their intended purpose at all times. 
 
 Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 
 
14) The screening of the terrace/balcony shall be installed prior to the first occupation of the 

relevant flat and maintained as such thereafter. 
 
 Reason:  In the interests of the living conditions of neighbouring properties. 
 
15) No part of the development shall be brought into use until a means of vehicular and 

pedestrian access to the development has been constructed. 
 
 Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 
 
16) No part of the development shall be brought into use until areas for vehicle parking, turning 

and manoeuvring have been laid out, demarcated, levelled, surfaced and drained in 
accordance with the approved plan and these areas shall be retained thereafter for that 
specific use. 

  
 Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 
 
17) No part of the development shall be brought into use until space and facilities for cycle 

parking have been provided and these facilities shall be retained thereafter for that specific 
use. 

 
 Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 
 
18) The development shall not be occupied until details of electric vehicle charging points (to a 

level required by Supplementary Planning Document 'Sustainable Travel and Development') 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.   

 
 The development shall be occupied until the electric vehicle charging points have been 

installed and are operational in accordance with the approved details.   

Page 94

Agenda Item 5b



 
 The approved infrastructure shall be permanently retained thereafter. 
 
 Reason: To facilitate the use of electric vehicles and to reduce air pollution and carbon 

emissions. 
 
19) To improve biodiversity details of bat boxes and bird nesting boxes (e.g. number, type and 

location on an appropriately scaled plan) to be placed or erected within the site must be 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval prior to the occupation of any of the 
units hereby approved. 

 
 The bat and bird boxes must then be installed prior to occupation of any dwelling and 

maintained as such thereafter. 
 
 Reason:  In the interests of biodiversity 
 
20) No residential unit hereby approved shall be occupied until details of full fibre broadband 

connections to all proposed dwellings within the development has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The infrastructure shall be installed 
prior to occupation and made available for use immediately on occupation of any dwelling in 
accordance with the approved details.  

 
 Reason:  To ensure adequate broadband infrastructure for new dwellings and to facilitate 

economic growth. 
 
21) No part of the development shall be occupied until details of both hard and soft landscape 

works have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.  
 
 These details shall include: i) A statement setting out the design objectives and how these 

will be achieved; ii) earthworks showing existing and proposed finished levels or contours; iii) 
means of enclosure and retaining structures; iv) other vehicle and pedestrian access and 
circulation areas; v) hard surfacing materials; vi) minor artefacts and structures (e.g. 
furniture, play equipment, refuse or other storage units, signs), and vi) water features.  

 
 Soft landscape works shall include [planting plans; written specifications (including 

cultivation and other operations associated with plant and grass establishment); schedules of 
plants noting species, plant supply sizes and proposed numbers/densities where appropriate; 
an implementation programme (including phasing of work where relevant). 

 
 Reason: To ensure an acceptable visual appearance to the development. 
 
22) Prior to the occupation any dwelling hereby approved a plan indicating the height, extent 

and material for an acoustic boundary to the side boundary with Number 27 Weld Road and 

Page 95

Agenda Item 5b



Prince Charles Gardens along the access road must be submitted to an approved by the Local 
Planning Authority. 

 
 The boundary treatment shall be completed as approved before any of the units are 

occupied and maintained as such thereafter. 
 
 Reason:  To mitigate noise impacts arising from movements of vehicles along the access 

road. 
 
Ongoing Conditions 
 
23) Within the first planting/seeding season following completion of the development, or to an 

agreed timetable, all planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of 
landscaping shall be carried out; and any trees or plants which within a period of 5 years 
from the completion of the development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or 
diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size and species. 

 
 Reason: To ensure an acceptable visual appearance to the development. 
 
24) Foul and surface water shall be drained on separate systems. 
 
 Reason:  To secure proper drainage and to manage the risk of flooding and pollution. 
 
Informatives 
 
1) The applicant is advised that the proposal will require the formal allocation of addresses.  

Contact the Development and Support team on 0151 934 4195 or E-Mail snn@sefton.gov.uk 
to apply for a street name/property number. 

 
2) The applicant is advised that all works to the adopted highway must be carried out by a 

Council approved contractor at the applicant's expense.  Please contact the Highways 
Development and Design Team at HDD.Enquiries@sefton.gov.uk for further information. 

 
3) Unless otherwise agreed by the Local Planning Authority, development other than that 

required to be carried out as part of an approved scheme of remediation must not 
commence until Conditions 4, 5, 6 & 11 above have been complied with. If unexpected 
contamination is found after development has begun, development must be halted on that 
part of the site affected by the unexpected contamination to the extent specified by the 
Local Planning Authority in writing, until Condition 11 has been complied with in relation to 
that contamination.  Contaminated land planning conditions must be implemented and 
completed in the order shown on the decision notice above. 

 
4) If the proposed development is to incorporate piling in the foundation detail, the developer 

is advised to consult with Sefton Council Pollution Control (ETSContact@sefton.gov.uk).  This 

Page 96

Agenda Item 5b



will reduce the chance of enforcement action which could occur if an unsuitable method of 
piling is chosen without appropriate consultation and which subsequently causes nuisance 
by way of noise and/or vibration. 

 
 
 

Page 97

Agenda Item 5b



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

Date of Meeting: 16 March 2022  

Subject:  DC/2021/02372 
 175 Linacre Road Litherland  Liverpool  L21 8JS       
Proposal: Conversion of ground floor commercial unit into two commercial units involving 

the installation of a new shop front (part-retrospective) 
 
Applicant: Mr. M Choda 
  B.G. Properties Ltd. 
 

Agent: Anthony Delahanty 
 Designed Nation  

Ward:  Litherland Ward Type: Full Application  
 
Reason for Committee Determination:  Call in by Councillor Trish Hardy 
 
 

 

Summary 
 
The proposal seeks planning permission for the conversion of ground floor commercial unit into 
two commercial units involving the installation of a new shop front (part-retrospective) 
 
The main issues to consider are the principle of development, design, character and appearance of 
the area and the impact on the living conditions of neighbouring properties. 
 
It is concluded the proposal will not cause significant harm and complies with the Sefton Local 
Plan. The proposal is recommended for approval, subject to conditions. 
 

 Recommendation:   
 
   
Case Officer Kellee Campbell 

 
 

Email planning.department@sefton.gov.uk  
Telephone 0345 140 0845  
 
 

Application documents and plans are available at: 

http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=R0G6GWNWMHO00 

Page 99

Agenda Item 5c



Site Location Plan 
 

 

Page 100

Agenda Item 5c



The Site 
 
The application site is 175 Linacre Road Litherland which is a two/three storey terraced building 
set on a corner plot and is part of a row of 5 terraced retail shops within a larger shopping parade. 
 

Relevant History 
 
DC/2021/00180 - Change of use of the ground floor only from retail (E) to hot food takeaway (sui 
generis) Refused 16th March 2021 
 
DC/2020/01823, Proposal: Certificate of Lawfulness for the proposed use as a takeaway. 
Certificate Not issued 22nd October 2020. 
 
DC/2020/00350, Proposal: Prior Notification application for the change of use from retail (A1) to 
residential. Prior approval required and refused on 14th April 2020 
 
Consultations 
 
 Environmental Health Manager – No objections 
  
 Local Planning Manager – No objections 
  
 Highways Manager – No objections subject to an informative for addresses 
  

Neighbour Representations 
 
None received 
  

Policy Context 
 
The application site lies within an area designated as Primarily Residential in the Sefton Local Plan 
which was adopted by the Council in April 2017.   
                                           
                                            
                                           

Page 101

Agenda Item 5c



 
Assessment of the Proposal 
 
Conversion of ground floor commercial unit into two commercial units involving the installation of 
a new shop front (part-retrospective). The shop front has been installed and is the retrospective 
element of the proposal. 
 
The issues to consider are the principle of development, design and impact on character and 
appearance of the area and impact on neighbouring properties. 
 
Principle of development 
 
The application site is located within a local shopping parade in a primarily residential area so 
subject to compliance with other policies in the Local Plan the principle of development is 
accepted. 
 
Design, character and appearance of the area 
 
The premises were previously subject to a Section 215 Untidy Land and Buildings notice as the 
shop front had been taken out and boarded up.  The Section 215 notice was complied with on 19th 
May 2021.   The property has since been sold and the applicant has applied for a retrospective 
planning permission for the shop front.  The new shop front is well designed and is in keeping with 
the character of the surrounding area and the street scene.  There are two existing doors on the 
Cobb Avenue elevation.  One gives side access to the existing ground floor commercial premises 
and the other gives access to the first floor flat above. The internal arrangement for the proposed 
sub-division of the ground floor building into two commercial units is for the access via the existing 
shop front on Linacre Road and for the office use via the existing side door on Cobb Avenue.  There 
are no external changes proposed to the Cobb Avenue elevation.  
 
The proposed alterations are in keeping with the character of the surrounding area and comply 
with Local Plan Policy EQ2 -Design.   
 
Impact on neighbouring properties 
 
There is an existing residential flat above the premises which has its own entrance via Cobb 
Avenue and this will not be changed by the proposal.  There is a gated alley to the rear of the 
premises which also serves residential dwellings to the rear.  The access to the proposed office 
from Cobb Avenue is set opposite number 177 Linacre Road existing side door accessed on Cobb 
Avenue, 10m from the side elevation of number 1 Cobb Avenue and 15m from the front elevation 
of number 2 Cobb Avenue at an oblique angle.  It is considered that the additional use of the side 
door for the office premises would not harm the living conditions of these premises above and 
beyond what is already experienced given that the door is used to access existing commercial 
premises.  The environmental health officer has raised no objections in relation to noise or 

Page 102

Agenda Item 5c



disturbance.  
 
Bin Storage 
 
An amended plan has been received to show the storage of bins which is a shared facility used by 
both commercial premises.  The applicant advises that they intend to enter a contract with a waste 
management company for the disposal of their commercial waste and this can be secured by 
condition. 
 
Conclusion  
 
The proposal is considered acceptable; it would not have a harmful impact on neighbouring 
properties and is of appropriate design within the context of the application site and wider setting. 
The proposal therefore complies with Policy HC3 – Residential Development and Primarily 
Residential Areas and Policy EQ2 – Design, and is recommended for approval, subject to 
conditions. 
 
Recommendation -   
 
 Approved Plans 
 
1) The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved plans and 

documents:  
 
 Location plan 
 175LIN.21/01 Rev A – Existing ground and first floor plan 
 175LIN.21/02 Rev A – Amended existing elevations 
 175LIN.21/02 Rev C – Amended proposed ground floor plan with bin storage 
 
 Reason:  For the avoidance of doubt. 
 
Ongoing Conditions 
 
2) The proposed use of the two commercial units shall be for Class E (Commercial, Business and 

Service Uses) and for no other purpose as set out in the Town and Country Planning (Use 
Classes) (Amendment) (England) Regulations 2020 (or in any other provision equivalent to 
the class in any statutory instrument revoking and re-enacting that order with or without 
modification). 

  
 Reason: To safeguard the living conditions of neighbouring/adjacent occupiers and land 

users. 
 

Page 103

Agenda Item 5c



3)      Before the development is occupied the proposed refuse storage area should be installed and 
maintained as such thereafter.  

 
 Reason:- to safeguard the living conditions of neighbouring/adjacent occupiers and land 

users 
 
4)      Before the development is occupied a contract with a waste management company to ensure   

the disposal of the commercial waste shall be completed and maintained as such thereafter.  
  
 Reason:- to safeguard the living conditions of neighbouring/adjacent occupiers and land 

users. 
 
Informative 
 
1) The applicant is advised that the proposal will require the formal allocation of addresses.  

Contact the Development and Support team on 0151 934 4195 or E-Mail snn@sefton.gov.uk 
to apply for a street name/property number. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 104

Agenda Item 5c



Report to: Planning 
Committee

Date of Meeting: Wednesday 16th 
March 2022

Subject: Planning Appeals

Report of: Chief Planning 
Officer

Wards Affected: (All Wards)

Cabinet Portfolio: Planning and Building Control

Is this a Key 
Decision:

No Included in 
Forward Plan:

No

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No

Summary:

To advise members of the current situation with regards to appeals.  Attached is a list of 
new appeals, enforcement appeals, development on existing appeals and copies of 
appeal decisions received from the Planning Inspectorate

Recommendation(s):

(1) That the contents of this report be noted for information since the appeals decisions 
contained herein are material to the planning process and should be taken into 
account in future, relevant decisions.

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

To update members on planning and enforcement appeals

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

N/A

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs
There are no direct revenue costs associated with the recommendations in this 
report.

(B) Capital Costs

Page 105

Agenda Item 6



There are no direct capital costs associated with the recommendations in this 
report.

Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):
There are no resource implications 

Legal Implications:
There are no legal implications

Equality Implications:
There are no equality implications. 

Climate Emergency Implications:

The recommendations within this report will 
Have a positive impact N
Have a neutral impact Y
Have a negative impact N
The Author has undertaken the Climate Emergency training for 
report authors

N

There are no climate emergency implications.

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Protect the most vulnerable: Not applicable

Facilitate confident and resilient communities: Not applicable

Commission, broker and provide core services: Not applicable

Place – leadership and influencer: Not applicable

Drivers of change and reform: Not applicable

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity: Not applicable

Greater income for social investment:  Not applicable

Cleaner Greener: Not applicable

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?
Page 106

Agenda Item 6



(A) Internal Consultations

The Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services (FD.6735/22) 
and the Chief Legal and Democratic Officer (LD4735/22) have been consulted and any 
comments have been incorporated into the report.

(B) External Consultations 

Not applicable

Implementation Date for the Decision

Immediately following the Committee / Council meeting.

Contact Officer: Tina Berry
Telephone Number: 0345 140 0845
Email Address: planning.department@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

The following appendices are attached to this report: 

Appeals extract from the back office system plus copies of any Planning Inspectorate 
decisions.

Background Papers:

The following background papers, which are not available anywhere else on the internet 
can ben access on the Councils website www.sefton.gov.uk/planapps

Page 107

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



Please note that copies of all appeal decisions are available on our website: 
http://pa.sefton.gov.uk/online-applications/

Contact Officer: Mr Steve Matthews 0345 140 0845

Email: planning.department@sefton.gov.uk

Appeals Received and Decisions Made

Appeals received and decisions made between 28 January 2022 and 24 February 2022

New Appeals

DC/2019/00464 (APP/M4320/W/21/3283298)

Rear Of 54 Sefton Road Litherland Liverpool L21 7PQ 

Erection of a 2 unit mews development following demolition of 
existing three storey building.

Decision Date:

Decision:

Start Date:

Procedure: Written Representations

08/02/2022

Reference:

DC/2021/01679 (APP/M4320/W/21/3289226)

Land At Strawberry Hall 293 Southport Road Lydiate Liverpool L31 4EB 

Permission in principle for a development of 4 dwellings.

Decision Date:

Decision:

Start Date:

Procedure: Written Representations

08/02/2022

Reference:

Page 109

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee  

Visiting Panel Schedule 
Date Monday 14th March 2022

Start:  10:00 am at BOOTLE TOWN HALL

Agenda 
Item Time Application Details Ward

5C 10:15

DC/2021/02372
175 Linacre Road, 

Litherland Liverpool 
L21 8JS

Litherland

5B 10:45

DC/2021/01452
25 Weld Road, 

Birkdale Southport
PR8 2DR

Dukes

4A 11:15

DC/2021/00123
90 Roe Lane,

Southport
PR9 7HT

Norwood

5A 12:00
DC/2021/00887

Land North Of Kenyons Lane 
Lydiate

Park

P
age 111

A
genda Item

 7



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held on 16 February 2022
	4a DC/2021/00123 - 90 Roe Lane, Southport
	5a DC/2021/00887 - Land North Of Kenyons Lane, Lydiate
	5b DC/2021/01452 - 25 Weld Road, Birkdale
	5c DC/2021/02372 - 175 Linacre Road, Litherland
	6 Planning Appeals Report
	Enc. 1 for Planning Appeals Report

	7 Visiting Panel Schedule

